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I. EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION 

A. Age Discrimination 

Harris v. County of Orange, 902 F.3d 1061 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Determines Retirees Are Covered By The Age 
Discrimination In Employment Act (“ADEA”) And California’s Fair Employment And 
Housing Act’s (“FEHA”) Age Discrimination Provisions, But That Retirees As A Group, 
May Be Treated Differently Than Employees As A Group 

Holding:  Under the ADEA and age discrimination provisions, an employer may treat retirees as 
a group differently, with regard to medical benefits, than employees as a group, taking into 
account that the cost of providing medical benefits to the retiree group was higher because the 
retirees were on average older. 

Discussion:  As part of reform measures, the County of Orange restructured two retiree benefits: 
(1) the retiree premium subsidy (which combined active and retired employees into a single 
unified pool for the purposes of calculating medical insurance premiums); and (2) the grant 
benefits (which provided retirees with a monthly grant to defray the cost of health care 
premiums).  Extensive litigation ensued regarding the changes made to both benefits.  One of the 
claims made by the retirees was that the elimination of the retiree premium subsidy was a form 
of age discrimination, in violation of the ADEA and FEHA.  The retirees claimed that the 
County violated FEHA based on “stereotyped assumptions that: (1) a ‘retiree’ is likely to be 
older than an active employee; and (2) an older person is likely to have higher health costs than a 
younger one.”  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals considered whether creating separate active 
and retiree pools for calculating insurance premiums, taking into account in doing so that the 
retiree pool is older, on average, than the active employee pool, violates the law.  This case is the 
first considered by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals to decide whether retirees (since they are 
no longer “employees”) are covered under the ADEA (and thus FEHA).  The Ninth Circuit Court 
of Appeals concluded that retirees are covered by the laws, which are intended to have broad 
application.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals also determined that the elimination of the 
subsidy does not discriminate among retirees, nor does it distinguish among active employees 
based on age, or against active employees who are old enough to retire but have not.  The court 
held that the County may lawfully treat the retirees as a group differently than the employees as a 
group.  The Court explained that under California law, public employers are not required to 
provide post-retirement benefits at all, and there is no violation of the FEHA for providing 
benefits on different terms than for active employees. 

What this means:  Public employers may offer health benefits to retirees under different terms 
than active employees without violating the ADEA or FEHA. 
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B. Race Discrimination 

Huddleston v. City & County of San Francisco, 2017 WL 6059273 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 7, 2017) 

Purely Speculative Claims Of Discrimination And Harassment Are Not Enough To Survive 
Summary Judgment 

Holding:  Purely speculative allegations of discrimination and harassment, without more, is 
insufficient to survive summary judgment.  

Discussion:  Employee, a 60-year old African-American female, legal assistant, allegedly began 
experiencing discrimination and harassment based on her age, sex, and race.  The employer 
contended, however, that employee was performing poorly.  For example, the employer found 
repeated errors in her work and had several medical reimbursement liens rejected because 
employee failed to include certain information or included incorrect information.  Employee 
received a poor performance evaluation, and was subsequently placed on two performance 
improvement plans (“PIP”) outlining goals she had to achieve by certain dates. After employee 
was unable to meet her goals, she was issued a written warning.  Employee thereafter took a six 
month leave of absence because her employer allegedly caused her to have a nervous 
breakdown.  When employee returned from leave she was given a third PIP.  She failed that PIP, 
a Skelly hearing was conducted, and she was placed on a fourth PIP.  Employee unexpectedly 
retired before the fourth PIP expired, and thereafter filed the instant suit. 

Employee testified that she had only experienced “subtle racism” and, although she never heard 
anyone say anything negative about her age or sex, she believed she was treated less favorably 
than others because of both.  For example, she believed she had been discriminated against based 
on her race when she was questioned about her attire when she wore a shirt with Tina Turner’s 
face on it and when she wore a shirt made from an African ethnic cloth called a “Dashiki.”  The 
employer contended that the Tina Turner shirt violated its dress code prohibiting clothing 
depicting any person’s face and that the “Dashiki” shirt looked like a t-shirt, which also violated 
the dress code.  Employee alleged the employer discriminated against her based on age when her 
employer referenced her fan as being good for “hot flashes,” even though employee herself was 
the one who originally made that claim.  Employee claimed her employer harassed her based on 
her race, sex, and age when her supervisor asked employee to use five different colored pens to 
correct interrogatories.  Employee further claimed that she had been discriminated against 
because her position was filled by a younger white male, and she had been the oldest member of 
the legal department at the time of her retirement.  She also claimed that the various PIPs and 
scrutiny of her work was “harassing” and created a hostile work environment. 

The court granted summary judgment for the employer, finding that none of employee’s 
allegations were sufficient to demonstrate discriminatory intent or harassment.  The court found 
employee’s claims were ambiguous, had no apparent connection to any adverse employment 
action, and employee was unable to show she had been satisfactorily performing her job duties.  
Also, employee’s harassment claims were based on pure speculation, and she adduced no 
evidence that any of the conduct she complained of was based on her membership in a protected 
class, let alone that the conduct was severe or pervasive. 
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What this means:  Employees will not make it past summary judgment when alleging purely 
speculative claims of alleged wrongdoing.  

C. Disability Discrimination 

Cornell v. Berkeley Tennis Club, 18 Cal.App.5th 908 (2017) 

Obesity Discrimination Claims Allowed To Proceed Under California Law 

Holding:  An employee’s obesity can potentially qualify as a disability under state and federal 
law. 

Discussion:  Employer fired employee after she had worked there for 15 years.  Employee is a 
severely obese woman and has been since she was a child.  Employer is a members-owned 
facility, governed by a board of directors (“board”) and it employs a general manager who 
oversees a small staff.  Employee received positive reviews, merit bonuses, and raises for over 
ten years.  Then a new manager took over employer and wanted to change its image.  Despite 
knowing that employee wore a size 5X-7X shirt, the largest size uniform employer ordered was 
2X.  Employee tried to get a uniform that would fit; however, the manager reported she 
“continue[d] to resist change and ha[d] not been cooperative.”  Employee eventually ordered 
shirts from a specialty shop, at her own expense, and had them embroidered with employer’s 
logo.  Employee then received reduced hours, was overlooked for advancement positions, and 
new hires received greater pay despite her decade of experience.  Employee complained to the 
board about the actions.  Several months later, a board meeting and dinner were held in an on-
site ballroom.  The meeting’s agenda listed “personnel issues” and “issues of club management,” 
including “[r]ates of pay for staff.”  Both employee and the manager assisted in set-up for the 
event.  During the set-up, the manager allegedly found a recording device positioned to record 
the board meeting.  The manager blamed employee but she denied planting the device.  The 
manager allowed employee to resign, and when she refused, the manager discharged her. 

Employee sued, making a claim under the Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”) for 
disability discrimination.  The trial court granted summary adjudication for employer, holding 
that employee failed to present medical evidence sufficient to create a triable issue of material 
fact as to whether she was disabled under the FEHA.  In Cassista v. Community Foods, Inc., 5 
Cal.4th 1050 (1993), the California Supreme Court specifically addressed obesity as a disability 
and held that “an individual who asserts a violation of the FEHA on the basis of his or her weight 
must adduce evidence of a physiological, systemic basis for the condition.”  However, where the 
definition of “disability” used in the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) results in broader 
protection, the broader protection in the ADA is deemed incorporated into the FEHA and will 
prevail over conflicting provisions.  In 2008, Congress passed the ADA Amendments Act, 
emphasizing that the definition of “disability” is to be construed in favor of broad coverage of 
individuals under the ADA.  Stemming from the amendments to the ADA, recent federal case 
law has eased the burdens associated with demonstrating that obesity is a “disability” under the 
ADA, and by extension the FEHA.  In a move away from the requirements in Cassista, and with 
recognition of the newer federal precedent, the court of appeal determined that employer failed 
to demonstrate that employee could not establish her obesity was a “disability” under the FEHA.  
The court therefore overturned the trial court’s grant of summary adjudication of the disability 
discrimination claim. 
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What this means:  This case confirms that obesity should not be ignored as a potential basis for a 
disability discrimination claim.  Just as with other disabilities, employers must increasingly 
consider the hardships faced by those who are overweight, and determine whether or not such 
individuals are entitled to reasonable accommodation.  It also indicates the evolving nature of 
what can be considered a disability under the ADA and FEHA. 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission v. BNSF Railway Company, 902 F.3d 916 (9th 
Cir. 2018) 

Employers Cannot Require Job Applicants To Pay For Post-Offer Medical Review 

Holding:  Employer violated the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) when it revoked a job 
applicant’s job offer when applicant failed to submit to an MRI at his own cost.     

Discussion:  Applicant, who disclosed a prior back injury during his job interview, received a 
conditional offer of employment subject to revocation if the applicant did not submit an MRI of 
his back at his own cost.  Unable to afford the cost, the employee failed to submit the MRI, and 
the employer treated him as having declined the job offer.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
held that requiring a job applicant to pay for an MRI or else lose his job offer because the 
applicant had a perceived back impairment is a condition of employment that is imposed 
discriminatorily on a person with a perceived impairment.  While the court acknowledged that 
follow up medical exams are frequently required of applicants with disabilities, burdening a 
prospective employee with a perceived disability with the cost of the testing was a discriminatory 
act that would effectively preclude many disabled applicants from obtaining a job.   

What this means:  While employers can still request follow-up medical examinations of job 
applicants, they must bear the burden of the costs associated with the examinations. 

Equal Employment Opportunity Comm’n v. R.G. &. G.R. Harris Funeral Homes, Inc., 884 
F.3d 560 (6th Cir. 2018) 

Sixth Circuit Court Of Appeals Holds Transgender Discrimination Violates Title VII 

Holding:  The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals held that discrimination on the basis of transgender 
and transitioning status is necessarily discrimination on the basis of sex, meaning that such 
adverse employment actions would violate Title VII. 

Discussion:  Employee, a transgender woman who was born biologically male, began work as a 
funeral director for a funeral home.  At the time, she presented as a man and used her then-legal 
name.  After six years of employment, employee presented the owner of the funeral home a letter 
indicating that she had struggled with a gender identity disorder her entire life, and that she 
would be coming to work as a female.  Owner fired employee in response to the letter indicating 
that he did not think things would “work out.”  He later justified his decision by saying he had a 
sincere belief that the Bible teaches that a person’s sex is an immutable God-given gift, and that 
he would be violating God’s commands if he were to permit his male-born funeral director to 
wear women’s clothes.  He also said that he believed that his customers would be unnecessarily 
distracted and upset by the situation.  Employee filed a Title VII gender discrimination claim 
against the funeral home alleging that she was discriminated against on account of her “sex,” but 
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the district court dismissed employee’s claim.  The district court ruled that the employer had 
discriminated against employee on the basis of sex because it engaged in sex stereotyping, but 
that her employer asserted a sufficient defense under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act 
(“RFRA”).   

The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.  The Sixth 
Circuit Court of Appeals agreed with the district court that Title VII bars employment 
discrimination against transgender people, holding that it violated Title VII for two reasons.  
First, transgender discrimination amounts to gender stereotyping, which the Supreme Court has 
held violates Title VII: “[A]n employer cannot discriminate on the basis of transgender status 
without imposing its stereotypical notions of how sexual organs and gender identity ought to 
align.”  Second, transgender discrimination is inherently sex discrimination, because if an 
employer fires an employee based on her status as a transgender individual, it is “motivated, at 
least in part, by the employee’s sex.”  The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals held the RFRA did not 
permit the employer’s discrimination.  RFRA mandates that a “substantial burden” on “religious 
exercise” must be “in furtherance of a compelling government interest” and “the least restrictive 
means of furthering” that interest.  The employer claimed two substantial burdens in this case: 
(1) the presence of a transgender employee would cause distractions in the operation of the 
business because family members of the deceased would not approve; and (2) it would force the 
supervisor to leave the company because he asserted that his religious beliefs do not permit him 
to work with a transgender person.  The court rejected both of these claims.  As to the first, the 
court stated that employers cannot refuse to comply with Title VII because of customers’ 
“presumed biases.”  Second, the court found that allowing employee to keep her job would not 
substantially burden the business because tolerating employees “Understanding of her sex and 
gender identity is not tantamount to supporting it.”  Employee did not ask her employer to 
endorse her, to help or sponsor her transition, or to change its religious beliefs concerning the 
immutability of sex; she only sought to remain employed and present consistent with her gender 
identity as it permits all other employees to do.  The court found that preventing employment 
discrimination on the basis of sex clearly qualifies as a “compelling interest” and that Title VII’s 
prohibition on sex discrimination represents the “least restrictive means” of forbidding sex 
discrimination.   

What this means:  While California already protects transgender persons from discrimination, the 
Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals now joins the Second and Seventh Circuits in holding 
discrimination against transgender persons necessarily implicate anti-discrimination laws 
prohibiting sex stereotyping.  This is also the first federal appellate court to address the RFRA in 
this context.  

Hernandez v. Rancho Santiago Community College District, 22 Cal.App.5th 1187 (2018) 

Probationary Periods Should Be Extended To Accommodate A Medical Leave Of Absence 

Holding:  The trial court properly found that the employer failed to reasonably accommodate its 
employee’s temporary total disability by terminating her employment during an approved 
medical leave rather than extending her probationary period to accommodate such leave. 

Discussion:  According to the terms of her probationary employment, at the end of a 12 month 
probationary period, a probationary employee’s employment would convert to permanent.  The 



 

6 
California Case Law Update 2019 

© 2019 Paul, Plevin, Sullivan & Connaughton LLP 

employee was also supposed to receive evaluations on the third, seventh, and eleventh month.  
On the eighth month, the employee, with the employer’s consent, went on temporary disability 
leave to have surgery related to a workplace injury.  Employee was scheduled to return to work 
shortly after the anniversary of her hiring date.  However, while on the approved leave, the 
employer terminated the employee because her performance had not been reviewed and it 
thought it would be forced to convert her employment to permanent status at the 12 month mark 
regardless of her leave of absence.  The employee then sued the employer, contending it failed to 
make reasonable accommodation for her medical condition and failed to engage in an interactive 
process under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act.  At the conclusion of trial, the 
court ruled in the employee’s favor, holding that the employer could have made other 
accommodations regarding her probationary period to allow for evaluations after her return.   

On appeal, the employer contended that if it did not terminate the employee, she would 
automatically become a permanent employee on the anniversary of her hiring, without the 
employer having an opportunity to evaluate her performance.  The court of appeal affirmed, 
holding that the employer was not required to either terminate the employee or make her a 
permanent employee on the anniversary date of her hiring, instead reasoning that by extending 
the probationary period, the employer could have received the full allotted time to evaluate the 
employee’s performance. 

What this means:  If a probationary employee suffers a temporary total disability requiring 
absence from work, the employee should not be terminated, instead that absence period should 
be deducted from the employee’s probationary period.  That way, employers may still use the 
full probationary period to review and evaluate employees, while also accommodating the 
employee’s medical needs. 

D. Individual Liability/Joint Employer Liability 

Curry v. Equilon Enterprises, LLC, 23 Cal.App.5th 289 (2018)  

Supplying Equipment And Setting Prices Is Not Enough To Establish Joint Employment  

Holding:  Although Shell Oil Products US (“Shell”) supplied equipment and set terms for gas 
prices, it was not a joint employer because it left employment decisions up to the chain that 
employed employee and it did not meet any of the definitions of an employer.  

Discussion:  Employee worked as a station manager for the chain American Retail Services 
(“ARS”) and filed a lawsuit alleging that Shell failed to pay its workers for overtime and missed 
breaks.  The court of appeal affirmed the lower court’s dismissal of a proposed wage-and-hour 
class action against Shell.  Although Shell supplied equipment and set terms for gas prices, it left 
all employment decisions up to ARS.  Therefore, Shell was not a joint employer because it did 
not meet any of California’s three definitions of employer: (1) it did not exercise control over 
wages, hours or working conditions; (2) it did not “suffer or permit employees to work;” and (3) 
it did not engage the individual, i.e. create a common law employment relationship in which the 
employer had control of the details of the employment.  Thus, Shell could not be a joint 
employer because it had no role to play in employee’s employment, i.e. it could not hire or 
terminate, discipline, train or compensate the employee or assign the employee to complete 
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tasks.  The court also found the Dynamex analysis inapplicable outside the independent 
contractor inquiry, but found the employee was not a Shell employee under that analysis anyway.   

What this means:  Companies that desire to avoid joint employment relationships must be careful 
not to engage in activities that could cause them to be considered employers, such as retaining 
the ability to terminate, discipline, or train employees. 

E. Continuing Violation Doctrine/Statute of Limitations Issues 

Scott v. Gino Morena Enterprises, LLC, 888 F.3d 1101 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Receipt Of Notice Starts Clock On Title VII Suits 

Holding:  The 90-day period for an employee to file suit under Title VII begins when the 
aggrieved person is given notice of the right-to-sue by the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission (“EEOC”). 

Discussion:  Employee alleged sexual harassment by her supervisors.  She filed a charge with the 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing and received a notice giving her the right to sue 
under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act and stating that the charge was “dual 
filed” with the EEOC.  She received the right-to-sue notice from the EEOC 18 months later and 
subsequently filed a federal lawsuit under Title VII.  The district court awarded summary 
judgment to the employer, finding that the statute of limitations had run.  The Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals reversed and held that the 90-day clock for an employee to file suit under Title 
VII starts when the employee receives a right-to-sue notice from the EEOC, not when that person 
becomes eligible to receive such notice. 

What this means:  The statute of limitations defense for employers in the Ninth Circuit Court of 
Appeals is weakened by this decision, which grants potentially significant increases in the 
amount of time employees have to file a lawsuit under Title VII. 

II. HARASSMENT  

M.F. v. Pacific Pearl Hotel Management LLC, 16 Cal.App.5th 693 (2017) 

Employers Are Liable Under The Federal Employment And Housing Act (“FEHA”) For 
The Sexual Harassment Of A Trespasser 

Holding:  A hotel employee, who was raped while working on the employer’s premises by a 
drunk, trespassing non-employee, could bring a claim under FEHA for sexual harassment and for 
failure to prevent such harassment. 

Discussion:  A hotel employee brought an action against her employer for violation of FEHA, 
after she was raped while working on the employer’s premises by a drunk, trespassing non-
employee.  On the day of the sexual assault, the hotel’s engineering manager saw a drunk man, 
who was not a guest at the hotel, walking around the hotel with a beer in his hand (the 
trespasser).  The manager saw the trespasser walking around two different floors and in the 
elevator but did not ask him to leave or report the man.  The trespasser approached housekeepers 
on three separate occasions.  On the first, he was asked to leave by a maintenance worker.  On 
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the second he offered a housekeeper money for sexual favors, and the housekeeper reported the 
incident to housekeeping management who broadcasted the trespasser’s activities and location to 
other housekeeping managers.  On the third occasion, the trespasser went to a hotel room that the 
employee was cleaning and raped her.  The employer argued that it did not know the trespasser 
posed a risk to its employees given that he was an unknown trespasser.  The court held that once 
the trespasser appeared on hotel property and the employer knew of his abusive conduct, 
regardless of whether it was directed at the employee or not, the employer had a duty to prevent 
the trespasser from engaging in harassing conduct.  The court held that section 12940 of the 
FEHA was broad and provided for liability whenever an employer: (1) knows or should know of 
sexual harassment by a non-employee and (2) fails to take immediate and appropriate remedial 
action (3) within its control. 

What this means:  Employers need to take immediate remedial action if they have any indication 
that someone has engaged in any kind of harassing activity towards its employees. 

III. RETALIATION 

Digital Realty Trust, Inc. v. Somers, 138 S.Ct. 767 (2018) 

Dodd-Frank Act Anti-Retaliation Protection Does Not Apply Absent Prior Notice To The 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 

Holding:  The anti-retaliation provision of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”) protects only employees who complain directly to 
the SEC, not internal whistleblowers. 

Discussion:  Employee was terminated by his employer, a publicly traded real estate investment 
trust, after making internal complaints about alleged securities violations.  Employee filed suit 
under the Dodd-Frank Act, which protects whistleblowers from retaliation for reporting 
securities violations.  Employer moved to dismiss, which the district court denied and the Ninth 
Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. 

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed, resolving a circuit court split regarding whether an internal 
whistleblower can sue under the Dodd-Frank Act.  The Court found that a plain reading of the 
statute, combined with the intent of Congress in enacting the statute, did not support the Ninth 
Circuit Court of Appeal’s expansive reading of the statute.  The Court relied on the definition of 
whistleblower in the statute, which includes individuals who provide information to the SEC.  
The statute protects whistleblowers who: (1) provide information to the SEC; (2) testify or assist 
in an investigation or administrative action of the SEC; or (3) make disclosures protected under 
federal laws or regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“SOX”).  The Court found that 
these categories merely dictate what conduct is protected, and does not expand the definition of 
whistleblower.  Therefore, individuals who do not provide information to the SEC do not meet 
the threshold requirement of the statute.  This is consistent with the purpose of the statute, which 
was to encourage people to notify the SEC of securities law violations.  This differs from the 
goals of SOX, which was to “disturb the corporate code of silence” and encourage external and 
internal reporting.  Although there was an SEC regulation that found the Dodd-Frank Act applied 
to internal whistleblowers, this regulation was not entitled to Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural 
Resources, 104 S.Ct. 2778 (1984) deference because the statute was unambiguous. 
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What this means:  Internal whistleblowers cannot seek recovery under the Dodd-Frank Act, 
which is often more advantageous than SOX claims since it has a longer statute of limitations, 
does not require administrative exhaustion, and provides for double back pay. 

Duggan v. Department of Defense, 883 F.3d 842 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Ninth Circuit Court Of Appeals Upholds Disciplinary Action Against Government 
Whistleblower Where Employee Was Disrespectful To Superiors 

Holding:  Employer proved it would have taken the same personnel actions had employee not 
made protected disclosures. 

Discussion:  Employee worked as a senior auditor.  He was hostile and disrespectful to his 
supervisor, questioned her experience and prevented her and another supervisor from following 
an agenda during a meeting.  Employee subsequently sent a large group email, calling his 
supervisor arrogant with poorly reasoned and dangerous management concepts, which other 
recipients considered rude and disrespectful.  Employee was suspended for ten days and given a 
poor performance rating, which resulted in him being prevented from teleworking.  Employee 
claimed he was retaliated against for protected disclosures in violation of the Whistleblower 
Protection Act.  An Administrative Law Judge found that protected disclosures were a 
contributing factor to the disciplinary action, but that the employer had shown by clear and 
convincing evidence that it would have taken the same actions without these disclosures. 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that although merely being blunt or critical 
of management in a protected disclosure would not justify discipline, being disruptive or 
disrespectful could justify discipline.  An employer is “entitled to demand basic civility.”  Also 
important was the fact that the employee had been told twice before to be respectful in 
expressing his viewpoints, and the suspension on the third offense was lenient. 

What this means:  A government employer does not have to tolerate disruptive or disrespectful 
behavior, even when an employee engages in the behavior in the context of protected 
disclosures. 

Whitehall v. County of San Bernardino, 17 Cal.App.5th 352 (2017) 

Paid Administrative Leave Was Not Protected Activity Under Anti-SLAPP Law But Was 
An Adverse Employment Action 

Holding:  Employer’s act of placing employee on paid administrative leave with the intention of 
firing her did not arise from employer’s protected activity under the anti-SLAPP statute but was 
an adverse employment action in retaliation claim. 

Discussion:  Employee, a child and family services social worker, was instructed not to produce 
to the juvenile court certain evidence in a dependency case.  Concerned the court would have an 
inaccurate understanding of the case, employee sent the withheld evidence to the deputy county 
counsel assigned to the matter.  Shortly thereafter, employee was removed from the case.  
Around the same time, another social worker who had also participated in the case was fired.  
Employee then filed a motion informing the court that employer had perpetrated a fraud on the 
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court.  Six days later, employee was placed on paid administrative leave for two months while 
employer investigated her potential violation of its rules barring disclosure of confidential 
information to unauthorized persons.  Before the investigation into employee’s conduct was 
complete, employee learned that employer had already decided to fire her.  Employee resigned to 
avoid being terminated and sued employer for retaliation under Labor Code section 1102.5(b).   

Employer filed an anti-SLAPP motion, alleging that placing employee on paid leave was: (1) a 
protected activity; and (2) not an adverse employment action that could support a retaliation 
claim.  The court held that placing employee on administrative leave with the intention of firing 
her did not arise from employer’s protected activity (investigation into employee’s potential 
wrongdoings).  Instead, it was in retaliation for employee’s act of revealing to the court that 
employer had withheld evidence.  Additionally, the court held that employee’s leave amounted 
to an adverse employment action.  Evaluating the leave in the context of employee’s claim, the 
court found the leave was adverse because employer had intentions of firing employee when it 
placed her on leave and the leave coincided with the firing of the other social worker on the case. 

What this means:  Employers should be aware that the relationship between paid administrative 
leave and an actionable adverse employment action is not always clear.  When placing an 
employee on administrative leave for purposes of investigating that employee’s potential 
wrongdoings, employers should be mindful of the timing of the leave and the events surrounding 
the leave to ensure it is not viewed as retaliatory. 

IV. WRONGFUL TERMINATION 

A. Constructive Discharge 

Simers v. Los Angeles Times Communications, LLC, 18 Cal.App.5th 1248 (2018) 

Employer’s Use Of Criticism, Demotion, And Performance Improvement Plan Did Not 
Amount To An Employee’s Constructive Discharge 

Holding:  An employee who is demoted is not simply permitted to quit and sue because they do 
not like the new assignment. While it may be a difficult experience to be criticized and demoted, 
an employee’s embarrassment and hurt feelings do not transform a resignation into a 
constructive discharge. 

Discussion:  Employee worked for employer, a newspaper, for over ten years, receiving 
uniformly favorable performance reviews.  Employee suffered a neurological event with 
symptoms similar to a mini-stroke.  He recovered quickly and was again writing his column 
three times a week.  Two and a half months later, employer reduced employee’s columns to two 
times per week to give him more time to write the columns.  His editors expressed the 
dissatisfaction of upper management with several recent columns.  Two weeks later, employer 
learned from an article in another publication that a Hollywood producer was developing a 
television show loosely based on employee’s life.  Viewing this as a possible breach of the 
paper’s ethics policy, employer put the columns “on holiday” for ten days, and then suspended 
the column pending an investigation.  After completing the investigation and holding several 
meetings with employee, employer issued a final written warning that removed employee from 
his position as a columnist and made him a senior reporter, with no reduction in salary.  
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Employee stopped working, and his lawyer told employer that employee considered himself to 
have been constructively terminated, meaning that the working conditions were so intolerable 
that he had no choice but to resign.  Employer then asked employee to return to his position as a 
columnist but did not answer his questions about how many columns he would write and 
whether he had to change his interviewing approach.  Employee then accepted a position as a 
columnist at another paper.  Employee sued employer, claiming disability and age discrimination 
and constructive discharge.  The jury found in employee’s favor on all claims and awarded him 
more than $7 million in damages.  The trial court granted employer’s motion for judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict on the constructive discharge claim but found that substantial 
evidence supported the verdict on the age and disability discrimination claims.  The trial court 
also granted employer’s motion for a new trial on damages.  Both parties appealed, and the 
appellate court affirmed all of the trial court’s orders. 

The trial court judge had concluded that, under the legal test for constructive discharge, “An 
employee who is demoted is not simply permitted to quit and sue because they do not like the 
new assignment.  While it may be a difficult experience to be criticized and demoted, an 
employee’s embarrassment and hurt feelings do not transform a resignation into a constructive 
discharge.”  The appellate court agreed.  It noted that the circumstances employee claimed had 
forced him to leave – the investigation, temporary suspension of his column and demotion from 
columnist to reporter – did not “alone or in combination, amount to working conditions that are 
either unusually aggravated or a continuous pattern of mistreatment.”  Rather, the court said, the 
evidence showed only personal, subjective reactions to employer’s use of standard disciplinary 
procedures without harassment or mistreatment.  The appellate court concluded that the trial 
court was correct in granting the judgment notwithstanding the verdict.  The appellate court also 
agreed with the trial court that there was sufficient evidence to support the jury’s conclusions 
that employee had been demoted at least in part because of his age and disability.  However, 
because it was impossible to determine what amount of damages the jury awarded because of the 
discrimination claims rather than the constructive discharge claim a new trial was needed to 
determine the amount of damages employee could receive on the discrimination claims. 

What this means:  An employee cannot prove a constructive discharge claim based solely on the 
employee’s personal, subjective reactions and objections to the employer’s use of standard 
disciplinary procedures unless the employee presents evidence that the procedures were used as 
part of a pattern to mistreat the employee. 

V. NONCOMPETITION/TRADE SECRETS 

A. Non-Compete Agreements 

AMN Healthcare, Inc. v. Aya Healthcare Servs., Inc. (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 923 

Employee Nonsolicitation Terms Held To Be Void In California 

Holding:  Affirmed summary judgment of employee's claim that a nonsolicitation clause in a 
non-disclosure agreement violated Business and Professions Code section 16600. 

Discussion:  AMN filed a breach of contract action seeking to enforce a nonsolicitation provision 
against four former AMN employees - recruiters - who left AMN to work for Aya Healthcare 
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Services, also as recruiters. AMN alleged that once at Aya, the recruiters solicited various travel 
nurses to leave AMN and work for Aya in violation of the employee nonsolicitation provision.  
The employee nonsolicitation provision provided that, for at least one year after terminating their 
employment with AMN, former AMN employees “shall not directly or indirectly solicit or 
induce, or cause others to solicit or induce, any employee of [AMN] to leave the service of 
[AMN].”  The recruiters countersued alleging that the employee nonsolicitation provision was 
invalid under Section 16600 of California’s Business and Professions Code, which provides that 
“every contract by which anyone is restrained from engaging in a lawful profession, trade, or 
business of any kind is to that extent void.”  The recruiters moved for summary judgment, which 
was granted and affirmed by the court of appeal.  The court of appeal held that the employee 
nonsolicitation clause violated the plain language of Section 16600.  In doing so, it departed 
from the reasoning of Loral Corp. v. Moyes (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 268, which upheld an 
agreement that restrained a former executive officer from “raiding” the plaintiff’s employees.  
AMN is factually distinguishable from Moyes because, as the AMN court noted, the “individual 
defendants were in the business of recruiting and placing on a temporary basis medical 
professionals.”  Because the individual defendants in AMN were recruiters, a restraint on their 
ability to solicit and recruit was necessarily a restraint on their lawful profession and trade.  
However, the court went further and appeared to call into question the validity of the 
reasonableness standard applied in Moyes with respect to employee nonsolicitation clauses:  
“Moyes use of a reasonableness standard in analyzing the nonsolicitation clause there at issue 
thus appears to conflict with Edwards’s interpretation of section 16600, which under the plain 
language of the statute, prevents a former employer from restraining a former employee from 
engaging in his or her ‘lawful profession, trade, or business of any kind,’ absent statutory 
exceptions not applicable here.” 

What this means: This case calls into question the continued viability of nonsolicitation clauses 
in an employment agreement.  Further litigation will be necessary to test the limits of AMN, 
including the importance of the fact that the job duties of the employees in this case, recruiters, 
included soliciting employees.  However, this case likely means that nonsolicitation clauses are 
invalid if the employee is involved in hiring at their new employer.  Thus, in addition to 
recruiters, this case could impact managers, supervisors and HR professionals. 

 

Golden v. California Emergency Physicians Medical Group, 896 F.3d 1018 (9th. Cir. 2018) 

Settlement Agreement Violated Business And Professions Code Section 16600 By 
Substantially Constraining Doctor’s Ability To Practice Medicine 

Holding:  A settlement agreement that barred a physician from future employment with entities 
that contracted with employer was a substantial restraint on competition and therefore violated 
Business and Professions Code section 16600. 

Discussion:  An emergency room physician sued his former practice group and raised various 
claims under state and federal law.  The parties orally agreed to settle the case, but employee 
then refused to execute the written settlement agreement because it waived his right to seek 
future employment with the employer, any facility it owned, or any facility it contracted with.  
Employee’s attorney withdrew, intervened in the proceeding, and moved to enforce the written 
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agreement.  The district court granted the motion and ordered the employee to sign the 
agreement.  The district court held that the employment provision did not violate Section 16600 
because it did not prevent employee from competing with his former employer, and therefore 
was not a substantial restraint on his medical practice.  Employee appealed. 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals considered prior state court decisions interpreting “a restraint 
of substantial character” under Section 16600, such as financial penalties for engaging in 
competitive conduct, and short term promises not to compete or solicit clients.  The Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals held that the provision barring the doctor from working at “any facility owned 
or managed by” the employer minimally impeded his ability to compete, and therefore did not 
violate Section 16600.  However, the provision barring employment with third-parties that 
employer contracted with, or acquired rights in, “easily rises to the level of substantial restraint” 
barred by Section 16600.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reasoned that Section 16600 not 
only guarantees a right to compete, but a right to pursue one’s profession, and that the two latter 
terms substantially restrained the employee’s right to work as a physician, especially given the 
former employer’s significant presence in California.  Lastly, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
held that the entire settlement agreement was void because the offending provision was a 
material term, and there was no other provision or agreement between the parties. 

What this means:  Many employers seek “do not darken our door” clauses when negotiating 
settlement agreements with problematic employees.  While employers are still free to bar these 
employees from applying for work with the employer, or any entity owned by the employer, they 
should be careful to not expand this prohibition to third-parties or do anything that might 
dissuade an employee from working in their chosen trade. 

VI. CIVIL RIGHTS 

A. Section 1983 

Perez v. City of Roseville, 882 F.3d 843 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Employee Defeats Summary Judgment Based On Factual Issues As To Whether She Was 
Terminated For Off-Duty Extramarital Affair With Fellow Employee 

Holding:  Factual issues existed as to whether police officer employee was terminated for an 
extramarital affair and whether the proffered reasons for termination were pretextual.  If the  
termination was based in part on the extramarital affair, employer violated employee’s 
constitutional rights to privacy and intimate association. 

Discussion:  Employee worked as a probationary police officer and was terminated after having 
an affair with a fellow police officer who was also married.  An internal affairs investigation 
revealed that there was no on-duty sexual contact, but possible phone use and texting on-duty 
policy violations.  Internal affairs reprimanded employee, but her supervisor and captain decided 
to terminate her without specifying the reason for the termination.  While the decision-makers 
claimed to have made the decision because employee didn’t get along well with other female 
officers, a shift policy dispute, and a citizen complaint, they had also expressed moral 
disapproval of the affair and the chief of police admitted in his deposition that the internal affairs 
investigation was a factor.  Employee filed a lawsuit under 42 U.S.C. section 1983 for violation 
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of her right to privacy and intimate association, due process and gender discrimination in 
violation of Title VII and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”).  The 
district court granted summary judgment, but the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed on the 
claim for violation of privacy rights and intimate association. 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals found a genuine issue of material fact as to whether 
employee was fired in part for her affair based on the chief’s testimony that the investigation was 
a factor in the termination, the input into the decision of individuals who expressed moral 
disapproval of the affair, the “speed” with which three unrelated employment issues were 
discovered immediately after the investigation concluded, and credibility issues with the three 
employment issues.  Furthermore, the officers were not entitled to qualified immunity because of 
a prior Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals case holding that there is a constitutional right not to be 
fired for off-duty sexual conduct unless it had a negative impact on job performance or violated a 
narrowly drawn regulation.  Here, the police department provided no evidence of job 
performance impact and only cited a broad rule against “conduct unbecoming an officer.”  While 
the Fifth and Tenth Circuits apply the deferential rational basis test for such claims, the Ninth 
Circuit Court of Appeals rejected this lenient standard.  There was also a disputed issue of fact 
regarding pretext since the chief knew about the affair for some time before the termination, 
which supported an inference that he wished to conceal the improper motive with legitimate 
bases created later.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals upheld summary judgment dismissing 
the sex discrimination and due process claims. 

What this means:  Public employees have a constitutional right not to be terminated for off-duty 
sexual conduct unless it impacts their performance or violates a narrowly drawn regulation.  This 
is also a good reminder that employers should be wary of making employment decisions shortly 
after activities are discovered that would not legally permit termination, especially when the 
decision-makers express negative views on the protected activities. 

VII. WAGE AND HOUR/OVERTIME 

A. Meal and Rest Periods 

Dept. of Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration - Docket No. 
FMCSA-2018-0304 

California Meal and Rest Break Laws Preempted in Trucking Industry 

Holding: The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration ("FMCSA") granted a petition 
submitted by the American Trucking Association to conclude California meal and rest break 
laws for drivers of trucks engaged in interstate commerce are preempted by federal regulations.  
The FMCSA’s action has been challenged in court, and that challenge is pending. 

Discussion: The American Trucking Association ("ATA") submitted a petition to the FMCSA 
asking whether federal law (49 U.S.C. § 31141) preempts California labor laws which entitled 
truck drivers to a 30-minute off-duty meal period after five hours of work and a 10-minute rest 
period for every four hours of work.  Regulations under the Department of Transportation (DOT) 
by contrast, only require a commercial driver to drive no more than eight hours without first 
taking a 30-minute, off-duty meal break.  The ATA asserted that California’s more stringent 
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rules would add 80 minutes of additional non-productive time to a 10-hour day beyond the 
requirements of federal hours of service rules.  The ATA  also claimed that forcing trucks off the 
road would contribute to a shortage of truck parking with serious safety implications. 

19 Congressional Democrats urged the FMCSA to deny the petition, fearing the preemption 
would dramatically impact California’s right to protect the safety of the public, to maintain 
highway safety, and to provide for the well-being of commercial truck drivers. 

In issuing its decision on December 21, 2018, granting the petition, the FMCSA wrote 
California’s meal-and-rest break laws, “are more stringent than the agency’s hours of service 
regulations, that they have no safety benefits that extend beyond those already provided by the 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, that they are incompatible with the Federal hours of 
service regulations, and that they cause an unreasonable burden on interstate commerce.” 

What this means:  Unless the FMCSA’s order is overturned by a court (that challenge is 
pending), employers of commercial truck drivers engaged in interstate commerce are not bound 
by the California’s meal and rest break laws in the state.  These truck drivers are entitled to the 
less stringent federal hours-of-service rules, which impose daily limits on driving time, and 
require long-haul truck drivers to take at least 30 minutes off no less than eight hours after 
starting a shift if they plan to drive for more than eight hours in a day. 

Gerard v. Orange Coast Memorial Medical Center, 6 Cal.5th 443 (2018) 

California Supreme Court Upholds Second Meal Period Waivers for Health Care 
Employees 

Holding: The California Supreme Court has upheld the ability of California health care workers 
who work more than twelve hours a day to voluntarily waive their second meal period. 

Discussion: Health care employees sued their hospital employer for meal break violations under 
the Labor Code and the Private Attorneys General Act (PAGA) claiming that the hospital's 
policy of allowing second meal period waivers for shifts greater than 12 hours violated the Labor 
Code.  Plaintiffs sought backpay and penalties for unlawfully permitting waiver of the second 
meal period.  At issue was whether the applicable Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) wage 
order, which the hospital's meal waiver policy conformed to, violated the Labor Code. 

Section 512 of the Labor Code generally provides that employees who work more than five 
hours must be provided with a 30-minute meal period and that employees who work more than 
10 hours must be provided with an additional 30-minute meal period.  Additionally, an employee 
who works no more than six hours may waive the meal period, and an employee who works no 
more than 12 hours may waive the second meal period, provided they take the first meal period. 

In 1993, the IWC amended Wage Order 5, which covers the health care industry, to allow health 
care employees who work shifts longer than 8 hours to waive a second meal period.  In 1999, the 
Legislature amended section 512 of the Labor Code to permit employees to waive a second meal 
period only if they worked 12 hours or less and did not waive the first meal period.  The 
Legislature also provided that the IWC could adopt or amend wage orders with respect to meal 
periods “notwithstanding any other provisions of law” as long as the order was consistent with 
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the health and welfare of the employees.  In 1999, the IWC adopted a section 11(D) to Wage 
Order 5, which permitted health care workers who work more than 8 hours to waive a second 
meal period.  After 11(D) was adopted but before it went into effect, the Legislature enacted SB 
88, which required IWC wage orders to be consistent with section 512. 

The Supreme Court unanimously rejected the employees’ contention and concluded that the 
Legislature authorized the IWC to depart from the 12-hour maximum work shift for waiving the 
second meal period.  Relying on a technical analysis of several versions of the Labor Code 
provisions, the Court found the validity of the wage order was determined based on the IWC’s 
authority on the date it was adopted, rather than the date it became effective.  The Court also 
noted that both employers and employee unions supported this conclusion, suggesting a 
willingness by the Court to consider employee choice when evaluating public interest in 
workplace regulations. 

What this means: Health care employers can rest assured knowing they may continue to 
use voluntary second meal break waivers for health care employees, including when they 
work shifts over 12 hours. 

Rodriguez v. Taco Bell Corp., 896 F.3d 952 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Employers Who Offer Voluntary, Discounted Meals May Require Employee Recipients To 
Stay On Premises During Their Meal Breaks 

Holding:  A requirement that employees remain on site during their meal breaks to eat a meal 
that they voluntarily purchased at a discounted rate does not violate California meal break 
requirements. 

Discussion:  Employer had a policy allowing employees to purchase one meal per day, at a 
significant discount, as long as the employees who purchased the discounted meal ate the meal 
on site.  A group of former employees challenged the policy, alleging it violated the California 
Labor Code and applicable wage order because it prevented them from being free from their 
employer’s control during their 30-minute meal breaks.  The employer argued that the stay-on-
site policy was lawful and necessary in order to prevent employees from reselling the discounted 
food or providing it to their friends or family for free.  The employer pointed out that the 
discounted meal program was entirely voluntary, and the employees who did not purchase a 
discounted meal were free to leave the premises while on their meal breaks.  Both the district 
court and Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals sided with the employer.  Specifically, the courts found 
that the employees who voluntarily participated in the discounted meal program were not “on 
duty” during their meal breaks because the evidence showed that the employer relieved its 
employees of all duties and relinquished control over their activities during their meal breaks, it 
did not otherwise impede compliant meal breaks, it did not require or pressure employees to 
participate in the discounted meal program, and employees were free to purchase meals at full 
price and leave the premises on their meal breaks.    

What this means:  This holding is not limited to restaurants, and therefore could apply to any 
employer that offers food at a discount to employees (i.e., airports, hospitals, shopping malls, 
etc.).  Absent any evidence that the discounted meal program is not voluntary or that employees 
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are encouraged or coerced to participate in the program, employers may require employees to 
stay on site in exchange for receiving a discounted meal.  

Serrano v. Aerotek, Inc., 21 Cal.App.5th 773 (2018) 

Staffing Company Not Liable For Client’s Failure To Provide Compliant Meal Periods 

Holding:  A staffing agency who maintained a compliant meal break policy and trained its 
employees on the policy was not liable for its client’s failure to provide temporary employees 
with compliant meal breaks.  

Discussion:  Employee filed a lawsuit against employer, a staffing agency that places temporary 
employees with its clients, for failing to provide her with meal breaks.  The employer 
temporarily placed the employee with one of its clients, where the employee was regularly 
denied compliant meal breaks.  The service agreement between the employer and the client 
stated that the client accepted responsibility to control, manage, and supervise the employee, and 
the employer’s employee handbook included a policy that the temporary employees be provided 
with meal breaks that comply with the requirements of California law.  The court of appeal 
granted summary judgment in favor of the employer staffing agency, finding that it had done all 
it was required to do under California law.  Specifically, the law does not require employers to 
“police” meal breaks, and the employer satisfied its obligations under California law by having a 
compliant policy, training its employees on the policy, requiring employees to notify it of any 
non-compliant meal breaks, and having a service agreement that required its clients to comply 
with the law regarding meal breaks.   

What this means:  This case reinforces the longstanding principle that California employers need 
only provide compliant meal breaks, not ensure that their employees take them.  Thus, employers 
should ensure that their meal break policies and procedures are compliant with California law, 
they train their employees on their meal break policies, and their employees have a way to notify 
them if they do not receive compliant meal breaks.  Additionally, in the case of joint employers, 
co-employers should ensure that their obligations under California laws are clearly defined in 
their service agreements. 

B. Overtime 

Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp. of California, 4 Cal.5th 542 (2018) 

California Supreme Court Adopts Employee-Friendly Overtime Calculation For 
Employees Who Earn Flat Sum Bonuses 

Holding:  When calculating an employee’s regular rate of pay for overtime purposes, a flat sum 
bonus should be divided by the total number of non-overtime hours the employee worked during 
the applicable pay period.   

Discussion:  California law requires that employers pay their employees overtime premiums 
based on their “regular rate of pay.”  For purposes of overtime calculations, an employee’s 
regular rate of pay is not the same as the employee’s normal hourly wage rate.  Rather, an 
employee’s regular rate of pay can change from pay period to pay period based on factors such 
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as shift differentials and the per-hour value of flat sum bonuses.  In this case, the parties disputed 
how a flat sum bonus earned for working weekends should be accounted for when calculating 
the employee’s regular rate of pay for overtime purposes.  The employer argued that the flat sum 
bonus should be divided by the total number of hours the employee worked over the applicable 
pay period, whereas the employee asserted the bonus should be divided only by the total number 
of the non-overtime hours worked.  Persuaded by the facts that an employer’s obligation to pay 
premium pay for overtime reflects a state policy favoring an eight-hour workday and a six-day, 
40-hour workweek and the bonuses would still be payable even if the employee worked no 
overtime, the California Supreme Court held that the employee’s proposed calculation – that flat 
sum bonuses should be divided by the total number of non-overtime hours worked over the pay 
period – was the proper method for calculating the employee’s “regular rate of pay” for overtime 
purposes.  Notably, the Court limited its decision to situations involving flat sum bonuses only, 
and thus other bonuses, such as production bonuses, piece rate bonuses, and others, are not 
affected by this decision.     

What this means:  When calculating employees’ regular rates of pay for purposes of overtime 
calculations, employers must ensure that any flat sum bonuses earned by employees are properly 
accounted for.  Additionally, the court noted that its ruling applies retroactively, and therefore 
employers who award flat sum bonuses are encouraged to audit their pay records for compliance 
with this ruling. 

Troester v. Starbucks Corp., 5 Cal.5th 829 (2018) 

Federal De Minimis Defense Generally Does Not Apply To California Wage And Hour 
Claims 

Holding:  The federal Fair Labor Standards Act’s (“FLSA”) de minimis doctrine is not a defense 
to claims for unpaid wages under California law in the context where an employer’s closing 
policy causes employees to regularly work several minutes off the clock.  

Discussion:  Federal courts traditionally apply the FLSA’s de minimis doctrine to excuse the 
payment of wages for otherwise compensable moments of time that are so small or irregular that 
recording them would be administratively difficult.  However, the California Supreme Court 
declared this year that the same doctrine does not apply under California law where employers 
require their employees to work off the clock for several minutes per day.  This holding arose 
from a putative class action brought by non-managerial employees who performed minor store 
closing tasks off the clock.  Specifically, the employees would clock out and then transmit sales 
data to corporate headquarters from a separate computer, activate the store alarm, and exit the 
store.  On occasion, the employees were also required to walk other employees to their cars and 
bring in patio furniture that had been left outside.  It was undisputed that these tasks took 
between four and ten minutes each day, or 13 hours over a year-and-a-half period.  Relying on 
federal doctrine for guidance, the trial court found that this several minutes of off-the-clock time 
was de minimis because it would have been difficult to capture administratively and, overall, it 
was relatively insignificant.  The California Supreme Court disagreed, finding that the federal de 
minimis doctrine is not generally a defense under California law because it has not been 
incorporated into the text of the California Labor Code or Industrial Welfare Commission’s wage 
orders.  Moreover, the Court found that a de minimis defense was not applicable under the 
specific facts of this case because the several minutes of lost time was not insignificant 
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considering the employees’ rates of pay and the fact that the employer could have restructured 
the clock-out procedure or used a different clocking-out system that would have captured the 
time.  However, the Court did not affirmatively hold that there are no circumstances under which 
compensable time could be so minute or irregular that it could be deemed de minimis under 
California law.      

What this means:  The California Supreme Court’s finding that the de minimis doctrine could 
still apply on a different set of facts shows that this opinion is not as big a risk for employers as it 
may have initially seemed.  In addition, the parties in this case agreed that the time at issue was 
compensable, so compensability is still a potentially valid defense.  Regardless, employers that 
require employees to perform pre- or post-clock-in activities but do not currently pay for this 
time, should review time-recording policies and practices to ensure that they are capturing all 
compensable time, including de minimis pre- and post-clock-in activities. 

C. Other California Labor Code Violations 

AHMC Healthcare, Inc. v. Superior Court, 24 Cal.App.5th 1014 (2018) 

Employers May Utilize Time-Rounding Systems That Are Neutral In Policy And Practice 

Holding:  Employer’s use of a payroll system that automatically rounds employee time up or 
down to the nearest quarter hour does not violate California law if it is neutral, both on its face 
and as applied. 

Discussion:  Employer used a timekeeping system that rounded employee clock-in and clock-out 
times up or down to the nearest quarter hour.  For example, if an employee clocked in between 
6:53 and 7:07, employee was paid as if employee had clocked in at 7:00; if an employee clocked 
in from 7:23 to 7:37, employee was paid as if employee had clocked in at 7:30; and meal breaks 
that lasted between 23 and 37 minutes were rounded to 30 minutes.  Data showed that a slightly 
larger percentage of employees lost time than gained time under the policy, but overall, the 
rounding policy added approximately 4,500 hours to the employees’ total compensable time over 
a four-year period.  Employees brought a representative Private Attorneys General Act 
(“PAGA”) action, which alleged that the rounding system violated the California Labor Code on 
the basis that it did not pay employees for all hours worked.  The employer, and the court of 
appeal, disagreed.  Specifically, the court found that the rounding system was not unlawful 
because it was facially neutral, applied fairly, and provided a net benefit to employees by 
significantly overcompensating them (by approximately 4,500 hours).  Notably, the court was 
not persuaded that the rounding system was invalid based on the fact that the percentage of 
employees who lost time slightly exceeded the percentage who gained time.  Rather, the court 
found the system was fair and neutral because it did not systematically undercompensate 
employees and instead resulted in a net surplus of compensated hours and a net economic benefit 
to employees when viewed as a whole. 

What this means:  Time rounding systems that round employee punch in and out times to the 
nearest quarter-hour are permissible if they are fair and neutral both on their face and in practice.   
However, employers should consider eliminating time rounding practices because even if fair 
and facially neutral, the practice could be the subject of expensive litigation and may ultimately 
be found invalid if it systematically undercompensates employees.  Further, employers who 
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utilize time rounding systems are encouraged to review their timekeeping procedures to ensure 
they are not indicative of bias.  For example, rounding software that in practice overcompensates 
lower paid employees at the expense of higher paid employees could unfairly benefit the 
employer and would therefore be unlawful.  

D. Fair Labor Standards Act 

Benjamin v. B & H Education, Inc., 877 F.3d 1139 (9th Cir. 2017) 

Cosmetology Students Are Not Employees Under The Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”)  

Holding:  The proper test for determining whether interns and vocational students are 
“employees” for purposes of the FLSA is the “primary beneficiary” test, which determines 
whether the student or the employer is the primary beneficiary of the relationship.   

Discussion:  Cosmetology students sued their school’s operator for an alleged failure to pay them 
wages and overtime premiums for the work they performed in the school’s salon clinics.  The 
students claimed they should be classified as employees under the FLSA because they spent 
much of their time performing unsupervised, menial services that they already knew how to do, 
rather than on the training and education needed for their cosmetology licensing exams.  The 
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals had not previously addressed a situation involving this issue, and 
thus it was required to determine the proper test for analyzing whether interns or vocational 
students are also employees for purposes of the FLSA.  Looking to the holdings of other federal 
circuits, the court concluded that the “primary beneficiaries” test utilized by the Second and 
Eleventh Circuits best captures the U.S. Supreme Court’s guidance for analyzing employer-
employee relationships under the FLSA.  Under this test, courts consider the following seven 
factors to determine whether the student or the employer is the primary beneficiary of the 
relationship: (1) the extent to which the student and employer understand that there is no 
expectation of compensation; (2) the extent to which the internship provides training that would 
be similar to that which would be given in an educational environment; (3) the extent to which 
the internship is tied to the student’s formal education program by an integrated coursework or 
receipt of academic credit; (4) the extent to which the internship accommodates the student’s 
academic commitments by corresponding to the academic calendar; (5) the extent to which the 
internship’s duration is limited to a period that could provide beneficial learning; (6) the extent to 
which the student’s work complements, rather than displaces, the work of paid employees; and 
(7) the extent to which the student and employer understand that the student is not entitled to a 
paid job at the conclusion of the internship.  Applying these factors to the facts at hand, the court 
found that the cosmetology students were not employees under the FLSA because they were the 
primary beneficiaries of the educational cosmetology program. 

What this means:  While the court’s ruling applies specifically to cosmetology students, it could 
be read more broadly to apply to other schools with students who learn in a clinic setting.  
Schools who utilize clinics for educational purposes should therefore ensure that their students 
understand there is no expectation of compensation for their services or of paid employment 
upon graduation, students are not performing primarily the same tasks performed by paid 
employees, and all student tasks performed in the clinic are tied to an educational curriculum. 
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Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 138 S.Ct. 1134 (2018) 

Automotive Service Advisors Are Exempt From The Fair Labor Standards Act’s (“FLSA”) 
Overtime Pay Requirement   

Holding:  Automotive service advisors who interact with customers and sell them services for 
their vehicles are exempt from the overtime pay requirement of the FLSA. 

Discussion:  The FLSA exempts from its overtime pay requirement “any salesman, partsman, or 
mechanic primarily engaged in selling or servicing automobiles, trucks, or farm implements, if 
he is employed by a nonmanufacturing establishment primarily engaged in the business of 
selling such vehicles or implements to ultimate purchasers.”  In this case, employee automotive 
service advisors sued their employer for violating the FLSA by failing to pay them overtime 
compensation.  While the employees agreed that they were salesmen who engaged in selling 
automobile services to customers, they claimed they were not “salesmen, partsmen, or 
mechanics” for purposes of the FLSA because they did not sell cars or perform repairs.  As the 
U.S. Supreme Court had typically done in the past, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals invoked 
the principle that exemptions to the FLSA should be construed narrowly and held that the service 
advisors were not exempt from the FLSA overtime pay requirement.  On appeal, however, the 
U.S. Supreme Court rejected this approach.  Finding that the FLSA gives no textual indication 
that its exemptions should be construed narrowly, the Court gave the exemption a broader, fairer 
reading and found that the service advisors were salesmen covered by the exemption because 
they “primarily engaged in . . . servicing automobiles” by selling automobile services to 
customers.     

What this means:  This case marks a change in the U.S. Supreme Court’s interpretation of FLSA 
exemptions.  Where the Court had typically construed these exemptions narrowly in the past, the 
Court’s new embrace of the “fair reading” standard opens the door for employers to push back 
against expansions of the employee protections afforded by the FLSA. 
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Marsh v. J. Alexander’s LLC, 905 F.3d 610 (9th Cir. 2018) 

The Ninth Circuit Court Of Appeals Ruled En Banc That Courts Should Defer To Obama-
Era Tip Credit Guidance From The U.S. Department Of Labor (“DOL”) 

Holding:  The DOL regulations and guidance regarding dual jobs is entitled to deference by the 
courts.  Employees may state a claim under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) where an 
employer attempts to take tip credit for non-tipped tasks that exceed 20% of the employee’s 
work time. 

Discussion:  Former employees who received tips (including servers and bartenders of IHOP and 
P.F. Changs) brought separate actions against their former employers alleging that the employers 
failed to pay minimum wage in violation of the FLSA by improperly claiming tip credit for time 
employees spent on related duties not directly connected with generating tips.  Employees 
alleged that they spent hours each day doing opening and closing tasks that were not directly 
related to generating tips, such as cutting and stocking fruit and cleaning drink dispensers and 
rest rooms.  The employees alleged that they were “dual job” employees – one tipped and the 
others not – because these other tasks exceeded 20% of their working time.  Employees alleged 
that although the employers could take credit for the tipped work, they could not take tip credit 
against paying minimum wage for the non-tipped job.  A district court in Arizona dismissed the 
complaints for failure to state a claim and granted summary judgment to the employers.  The trial 
court determined that as long as the employee was paid minimum wage for the entire workweek, 
it did not matter how much he or she was paid for a particular hour, that the dual jobs regulation 
is ambiguous and does not recognize as different occupations the prep work related to the tipped 
occupation, and the DOL’s guidance is not entitled to Auer v. Robbins, 117 S.Ct. 905 (1997) 
deference.  The employees appealed and the cases were consolidated.  The Ninth Circuit Court 
of Appeals affirmed in part, vacated in part, and remanded.   

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals then granted rehearing en banc.  This decision, which drew 
several dissents, upended a three-judge panel’s finding last year that trial courts didn’t need to 
give weight to DOL guidance from 2016 that addressed the application of the FLSA’s tip credit 
provision to situations in which an employee works for the same employer in two different roles.  
The en banc decision agreed with the employees that both the regulation and the agency’s 
interpretation are entitled to deference, adding that the workers can pursue several wage claims 
under the FLSA.  The en banc court agreed with the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeal’s conclusion 
that Auer deference is owed since the DOL’s dual-jobs regulation “is ambiguous and the 
guidance’s interpretation is both reasonable and consistent with the regulation.”  The en banc 
panel rejected numerous arguments by the employers for why deference isn’t owed. 

What this means:  This decision has little impact in California, as California law does not permit 
a sub-minimum wage for tipped employees. 
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E. Employee vs. Independent Contractor 

California Trucking Association v. Su, 903 F.3d 953 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Backs California Labor Commissioner’s Independent 
Contractor Test for Trucking 

Holding:  The Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (“FAAAA”) did not preempt 
use of the Borello v. Department of Industrial Relations, 48 Cal.3d 341 (1989) standard to assess 
whether owner-operators were misclassified as independent contractors.  The Borello standard, 
which is generally an applicable test used in a traditional area of state regulation, is not “related 
to” prices, routes, or services, and therefore is not preempted by the FAAAA. 

Discussion:  The California Trucking Association (“CTA”) is an association devoted to 
advancing the interests of its motor carrier members.  CTA members are licensed motor carrier 
companies that manage, coordinate, and schedule the movement of property throughout 
California in interstate commerce.  Based on factors such as efficiency and market demand, CTA 
members use either company drivers (who drive company trucks) or owner-operators (who drive 
their own trucks).  CTA filed suit against the Labor Commissioner of the state of California 
Department of Industrial Relations, alleging that the Borello standard disrupts the contractual 
arrangements between owner-operators and motor carriers, which introduces inefficiencies into 
transportation services and is inconsistent with Congress’ deregulatory goals under the FAAAA.  
CTA thus sought a declaration that the FAAAA preempts the Commissioner’s application of the 
Borello standard.  CTA argued that, considering the effects of the Borello standard, there is an 
“improper compulsion” in the preemption sense.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals rejected 
this contention because Borello does not compel the use of employees or independent 
contractors; instead, it impacts CTA members in ways prior case law (allowing application of 
California’s meal and rest break requirements and prevailing wage laws) has made clear are “not 
significant” and thus do not warrant preemption.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
distinguished Borello from the Port of Los Angeles and Long Beach’s directive that carriers must 
use only employee drivers and give hiring preference to drivers with more experience, which 
was found by the court to be preempted.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals noted that other 
states have found the “ABC” test to be preempted because the ABC test makes it impossible to 
use independent contractors, because Part B, the “outside the usual course of business” prong, 
cannot be met.  Interestingly, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals opines that Dynamex had no 
impact here because CTA sought relief under the Borello standard, and has not alleged that the 
Labor Commissioner applies the Dynamex ABC test, and that “Dynamex did not purport to 
replace the Borello standard in every instance where a worker must be classified as either an 
independent contractor or an employee for purposes of enforcing California’s labor protections.” 

What this means:  This case is ripe for appeal or reconsideration because the case was filed, fully 
briefed, and argued prior to Dynamex and other states have specifically held that the ABC test is 
preempted by the FAAAA.  However, in the meantime, the Borello standard is not preempted by 
the FAAAA. 
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Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal.5th 903 (2018) 

California Supreme Court Announces New Test For Determining Whether A Worker Is 
An Employee Or An Independent Contractor 

Holding:  The “ABC” test is the new standard for determining whether workers are “employees” 
or “independent contractors” for purposes of California’s Industrial Welfare Commission wage 
orders. 

Discussion:  In a landmark decision, the California Supreme Court eschewed the use of the 
flexible Borello test it had embraced since 1989 for determining whether a worker is an 
employee or an independent contractor for purposes of interpreting California’s Industrial 
Welfare Commission wage orders, which govern items such as overtime and meal and rest 
breaks.  Under the Borello test, courts would determine whether a worker qualified as an 
employee or independent contractor by primarily evaluating the hiring entity’s control over the 
worker claiming employee status.  In place of the Borello test, the Court has adopted the more 
rigid “ABC” test, which considers a worker to be an employee unless the hiring entity can prove: 
(A) the worker is free from the hiring entity’s control and direction in connection with the 
performance of the work; (B) the worker performs work that is outside the usual course of the 
hiring entity’s business; and (C) the worker is customarily engaged in an independently 
established trade, occupation, or business of the same nature as the work performed.  If the hiring 
entity fails to prove any one of these three prerequisites, the worker will be categorized as an 
employee rather than an independent contractor.  Though the Court adopted the new standard in 
the limited context of California’s Industrial Welfare Commission wage orders, the impact of the 
decision may go well beyond the wage orders.      

What this means:  The newly adopted ABC test makes it much more difficult for California 
businesses to properly classify workers as independent contractors.  California businesses who 
use independent contractors should review their relationships with these workers to ensure 
compliance with the new standard. 

Garcia v. Border Transportation Group LLC, 28 Cal.App.5th 558 (2018)  

The ABC Test Does Not Apply to Non-Wage Order Claims 

Holding: (1) The Dynamex ABC test for determining whether an employment relationship exists 
does not apply to non-wage order claims; these claims are governed by Borello.  (2) Under Part 
C of the ABC test, a worker must actually be customarily engaged in an independently 
established trade, occupation, or business," not only capable of being so engaged, to qualify as an 
independent contractor. 

Discussion:  Plaintiff worked as a cab driver and leased a cab and obtained a permit from 
defendant.  After a dispute over the leasing fee, Plaintiff alleges defendant refused to renew his 
lease and sued for (1) wrongful termination, (2) unpaid wages, (3) failure to pay minimum wage, 
(4) failure to pay overtime, (5) failure to provide meal and rest breaks, (6) failure to furnish 
accurate wage statements, (7) waiting time penalties, and (8) unfair competition.  The trial court 
granted summary judgment in favor of defendant on the grounds that the plaintiff was an 
independent contractor.  While the case was pending on appeal, the California Supreme Court 
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decided Dynamex.  The Court of Appeal decided two issues: (1) whether the ABC test adopted in 
Dynamex applied to all employment claims, or just wage order claims, and (2) whether Part C of 
the Dynamex test required that the worker be actually engaged in an independent business or 
only capable of engaging in an independent business. 

Dynamex held that the ABC test applies to employee-independent contractor questions under the 
"suffer or permit to work" definition of "employee," including wage orders.  The court noted, 
however, that Dynamex did not purport to replace the Borello standard for other claims based on 
the Labor Code that are not governed by wage orders.  The Court of Appeal held the ABC test 
does not apply to non-wage order claims because the wage order specifically defines "employ" 
using the "suffer or permit to work" language, and wage orders regulates "very basic working 
conditions for covered California employees, thus warranting the broadest definition of 
employment to extend protections to the widest class of workers."  Accordingly, the Court of 
Appeal held that the ABC test applied only to the plaintiff's unpaid wages, failure to pay 
minimum wage, failure to provide meal and rest periods, failure to furnish itemized wage 
statements, and UCL claims based on the foregoing claims.  The common-law test articulated in 
Borello continued to apply to the plaintiff's wrongful termination, over time, and waiting time 
claims. 

The court next considered whether plaintiff satisfied Part C of the ABC test.  Defendant argued 
that plaintiff was an independent contractor if he were capable of performing independent work.  
Defendant cited a Massachusetts Supreme Court case (Sebago v. Boston Cab Dispatch, Inc.) in 
which the Massachusetts Supreme Court concluded that a cab driver was an independent 
contractor because he was capable of working as a cab driver independent of the work 
arrangement with the owner of the cab.  The court rejected Sebago and held that the ABC test 
under Dynamex required "an existing, not potential, showing of independent business operation." 

What this means:  The ABC test does not apply to non-wage order claims, such as failure to pay 
overtime, wrongful termination, and waiting time claims.  Furthermore, workers are employees 
unless they are actually engaged in independent business operations. 

F. Other 

Hernandez v. Pacific Bell Telephone Company (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 131 

Use of Company Vehicle Does Not Transform Commute into Working Time 

Holding: Affirmed summary judgment in favor of the employer because the employer's 
provision of a company vehicle to employees to use in traveling from their homes to their first 
customer appointments of the day and home from the last appointments of the day did not 
transform commute time into "hours worked." 

Discussion: The plaintiffs were a class of technicians who were allowed to use a company-
provided truck loaded with all the equipment necessary to install video and internet service.  The 
company implemented an optional Home Dispatch Program (“HDP”), allowing technicians to 
take a company vehicle home after their shifts rather than returning the vehicle to the company 
garage each night.  The employees alleged that this program rendered the commuting time 
compensable.  The court analyzed the two-part definition of “hours worked” contained in the 
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Industrial Wage Commission’s wage orders: “the time during which an employee is subject to 
the control of an employer,” and “all the time the employee is suffered or permitted to work, 
whether or not required to do so” and concluded that participation in HDP did not constitute 
hours worked under either definition.  With respect to the “control test”, the court found that if 
the employees could provide their own transportation, but could also choose to use the employer-
provided ride, then the employees were not subject to the employer’s control, even if the 
employees could not engage in personal activities such as dropping children off at school or 
running errands on the way to work.  Because of the voluntary nature of HDP, the court held 
“[c]ommute time under the HDP is not compensable as ‘hours worked’ under the control test.”  
The court also found that HDP participation was not compensable under the “suffer or permit” 
test for hours worked.  The technicians argued the mere transportation of equipment to the 
customer’s house constituted work under the “suffer or permit” standard, but the court disagreed.  
The court pointed out the logical extension of the plaintiffs’ argument was that any carrying of 
work tools or equipment, even a briefcase, could convert commute time into hours worked.  The 
court distinguished a recent California Supreme Court case, Augustus v. ABM Security Services 
(2016) 2 Cal.4th 257, in which the court held that employers must relieve their employees of all 
duties during rest breaks, on the basis that the court in that case was construing the “control” test 
rather than the “suffer or permit” test. 

What this means: Employers in California can offer transportation services or vehicles to 
employees for commute purposes without such time constituting hours worked so long as it 
is clear that the employer-provided transportation is optional and voluntary. 

Allied Concrete and Supply Co. v. Baker, 904 F.3d 1053 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Ninth Circuit Court Of Appeals Upholds California’s Decision To Include Ready-Mix 
Concrete Drivers Under The State’s Prevailing Wage Law 

Holding:  The Borello standard – a state common law test used to determine whether a motor 
carrier has properly classified its drivers as independent contractors – is not preempted by the 
Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (“FAAAA”).  The panel also found that 
Congress did not intend to preempt generally applicable labor laws and give motor carriers the 
unchecked ability to contract around those laws simply by obtaining the owner-operators’ 
consent to label them as independent contractors and exclude them from labor protections. 

Discussion:  In 2015, California amended its prevailing wage laws to include delivery drivers of 
ready-mix concrete.  A group of ready-mix concrete suppliers challenged Labor Code section 
1720.9, alleging that it violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the 
United States Constitution and the FAAAA.  The trial court dismissed the FAAAA claim, and 
the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of the FAAAA claim.  The trial court also 
concluded that Section 1720.9 did not pass muster under the “rational basis” test and thus 
granted summary judgment in favor of the employers on the equal protection claim.  The trial 
court reasoned that there were no legally relevant differences between ready-mix drivers and 
other delivery drivers.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, however, concluded that the trial 
court wrongly disregarded as irrelevant certain differences between ready-mix drivers and other 
drivers that the legislature could have relied on in extending the prevailing wage law.  
Specifically, because ready-mix drivers are more highly skilled than other drivers (they can add 
water/alter the mix while driving), are more integrated into the construction process than other 
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materials drivers, provide a material that is more important to public works projects than other 
materials, and are more likely to be unionized and thus vulnerable to underbidding, California’s 
legislature had a rational basis for treating ready-mix drivers differently than other drivers under 
the prevailing wage laws. 

What this means:  As the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals noted in its opinion, carriers will face 
modest increases in business costs, or will have to take the Borello standard and its impact on 
labor laws into account when arranging operations.  Perhaps because this case was argued and 
submitted pre-Dynamex, California’s new “ABC” test was not discussed or considered. 

Atempa v. Pedrazzani, 27 Cal.App.5th 809 (2018) 

Non-Employer Individuals Can Be Held Personally Liable Under The Private Attorneys 
General Act (“PAGA”) 

Holding:  Any individual other than the corporate employer can be found liable for the civil 
penalties associated with statutory violations in the payment of wages to a corporate employee 
even if there is no allegation or finding that the corporate laws have been misused or abused for a 
wrongful or inequitable purpose. 

Discussion:  Employees filed a lawsuit alleging failure to pay wages and overtime wages, meal 
and rest period violations, and derivative claims against their employer and its owner, president, 
secretary, and director.  In addition, employees asserted a cause of action under PAGA.  During 
the bench trial, the owner moved for nonsuit on the basis that he was not the employer for the 
claims alleged.  The trial court denied the motion.  After the bench trial, the court found for the 
employees and awarded civil penalties, interest, and attorney’s fees, with employer and the 
owner having joint and several liability.   

During the pendency of the appeal, employer filed for bankruptcy.  The owner argued on appeal 
that because he was merely an individual officer of the corporate employer, he should not be 
liable for the awards since there were no allegations or findings either that he was the alter ego of 
employer or that he acted outside the scope of his agency for employer.  The court rejected this 
argument, finding that the owner is an “other person” who caused the overtime pay and 
minimum wage violations under Labor Code sections 558(a) and 1197.1(a).  The court also held 
that Labor Code section 2699 (PAGA) authorizes employees to recover civil penalties and 
attorney’s fees from the owner.  The court of appeal noted that there are numerous other areas of 
the law in which a corporate agent faces liability for the acts of a corporation without a showing 
of alter ego or piercing the corporate veil.  The court also explained that the statutory language is 
unambiguous (any “other person”) and makes no mention of business structure of the employer.  
The court distinguished Martinez v. Combs, 49 Cal.4th 35 (2010), where the employees sought 
wages, and this case, where the employees sought civil penalties.  The court held that the 
common law alter ego doctrine was inapplicable here because the owner’s liability was premised 
on being an “other person” and not the “employer.”  The court acknowledged that neither 
Sections 558 or 1197.1 authorize a private right of action, but held that Section 2699 (PAGA) 
permitted the awarding of the civil penalties here.  The court however, modified the trial court’s 
award of the Section 558 penalties entirely to the employees, instead finding the award should be 
split with the state Labor and Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) in accordance with 
the 75/25 split provided for in the PAGA statutes. 
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What this means:  Individuals who have control over the payment of wages to employees and 
who somehow cause them to be underpaid may be personally liable for civil penalties, attorney’s 
fees, and interest regardless of the corporate structure, and even absent an ownership interest in 
the company. 

Diaz v. Grill Concepts Services, Inc., 23 Cal.App.5th 859 (2018) 

Employers Cannot Avoid Waiting Time Penalties By Claiming Ignorance Of A New Law   

Holding:  An employer’s failure to investigate and comply with a suspected change in local 
wages constitutes a “willful” failure to pay wages for purposes of California’s waiting time 
penalty statute. 

Discussion:  A city ordinance required employers within a specific zoning area to pay their 
employees a living wage that was higher than the state minimum wage.  Years later, an employer 
located within the zone suspected, and confirmed, that the ordinance was being amended to 
require a higher living wage payment.  However, the employer made no effort to follow up on 
the implementation of the wage increase.  When the wage increase went into effect the employer 
continued to pay its employees the previous, lower rate.  Eventually, a class of former employees 
sued the employer for unpaid wages and waiting time penalties under California Labor Code 
section 203, which provides, “If an employer willfully fails to pay . . . any wages of an employee 
who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the employee shall continue as a penalty from the 
due date thereof at the same rate until paid” for up to 30 days.  The employer disputed that it was 
required to pay waiting time penalties on the basis that its failure to pay the higher wage rate was 
not “willful” but rather a good-faith mistake based on its failure to recognize the change in the 
law.  In a judgment in favor of the employees, the court of appeal held that the employer’s failure 
to investigate its suspicions that the required wage had increased rendered its failure to pay the 
required wage willful for purposes of Section 203.  Acting “willfully” under the statute requires 
only that an employer act voluntarily in a manner that fell short of its legal obligations.  It does 
not require any blameworthy, malicious, or fraudulent conduct.     

What this means:  Employers should keep up to date on all wage requirements applicable to their 
employees or risk being found to have willfully failed to pay required wages under California’s 
stringent waiting time penalty statute.  
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Khan v. Dunn-Edwards Corp., 19 Cal.App.5th 804 (2018) 

Defective Pre-Filing Private Attorneys General Act’s (“PAGA”) Notice May Invalidate A 
PAGA Claim 

Holding:  An employee’s failure to comply with PAGA’s pre-filing notice requirement that he 
provide notice of all alleged Labor Code violations resulted in the dismissal of the employee’s 
PAGA action. 

Discussion:  PAGA allows an “aggrieved employee” to file a representative action on behalf of 
themselves and other current and former employees to recover civil penalties that otherwise 
would only be recoverable by the California Labor and Workforce Development Agency 
(“LWDA”).  Before filing a PAGA claim, an employee must comply with certain administrative 
procedures, including providing notice to the alleged offending employer and the LWDA “of the 
specific provisions of [the Labor Code] alleged to have been violated, including the facts and 
theories to support the alleged violation.”  The purpose of this notice requirement is to afford the 
LWDA the opportunity to decide whether to investigate and pursue the case itself and the 
employer the opportunity to cure any alleged violations.  In this case, the employee’s pre-filing 
notice referred only to his own claims and failed to reference any claim that he intended to 
pursue on behalf of other current and former employees.  The court dismissed the employee’s 
PAGA action at the summary judgment phase based on the insufficient notice, as it failed to 
provide the LWDA the opportunity to determine whether an investigation into any representative 
claim was warranted.   

What this means:  Employers should carefully review all PAGA notices they receive from 
potential plaintiffs to ensure compliance with PAGA’s pre-filing notice requirements, as a 
technical violation of the notice requirement could potentially invalidate the employee’s PAGA 
claim. 

Sali v. Corona Regional Medical Center, 889 F.3d 623 (9th Cir. 2018) 

The Court May Consider Inadmissible Evidence At The Class Certification Stage 

Holding:  In considering whether to certify a class action, courts may not decline to consider 
evidence solely on the basis that such evidence may be inadmissible at trial. 

Discussion:  Several classes of employee nurses alleged that they were underpaid by their 
employer in several ways, including that their hours were underestimated though a rounding-
time system that did not account for their starting early and they were not paid overtime 
premiums.  The trial court denied certification of each proposed class in part because the class 
representatives were not able to show they were actually injured by these acts.  Specifically, the 
class members’ undercounted hours were displayed through a paralegal’s analysis of time cards, 
and the court rejected this evidence on the basis that the paralegal’s declaration was not based on 
personal knowledge of the facts, it offered improper opinion testimony, and it was more akin to 
expert witness testimony.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the class 
certification stage was too early for a court to limit what proof may be admissible.  The court 
reasoned that such activity would risk terminating actions before a putative class may gather 
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crucial evidence and transform the preliminary stage of litigation into an evidentiary shooting 
match. 

What this means:  This decision may make class certification easier to obtain and embolden class 
counsel to present less than reliable evidence at the class certification stage, which courts will be 
hard pressed to ignore. 

VIII. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 

A. USERRA 

Huhmann v. Federal Express Corporation, 874 F.3d 1102 (9th Cir. 2017) 

The “Escalator Principle” And “Reasonable Certainty Test” Used To Determine The 
Position To Which A Service Member Is Entitled Upon Their Return To Civilian 
Employment May Also Be Used To Determine The Specific Employment Benefits To 
Which They Are Entitled 

Holding:  Under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act 
(“USERRA”), service members returning to civilian employment are owed the employment 
benefits they would have earned in a new position had their progression toward that position not 
been delayed due to their military service. 

Discussion:  Employee was an officer in the U.S. Air Force Reserves and a pilot for his civilian 
employer.  The civilian employer determines its employees’ pay grades in part by the aircraft 
they fly.  Employee was hired to fly a narrow-body aircraft and was later selected to train to fly a 
wide-body aircraft, which would have qualified him for a higher pay grade.  However, employee 
was mobilized for active duty two weeks before the training for the wide-body aircraft began.  
While employee was deployed, employer issued bonuses to its employees.  Bonus amounts were 
determined by the qualifying employee’s highest pay grade held on the date the bonuses were 
issued.  Upon his return from military service, employee was paid the bonus commensurate with 
flying a narrow-body aircraft, and he sued his employer for failing to pay him the higher bonus 
commensurate with flying a wide-body aircraft.  Employee asserted that had he not left for 
military service, he would have completed his flight training, obtained a higher pay grade, and 
been eligible for the higher bonus by the date the bonuses issued.  In determining which bonus 
the employee was entitled to, the district court applied the “escalator principle” and the 
“reasonable certainty test,” which previously had been used only to determine the position to 
which a service member is entitled upon their return to civilian employment.  Applying these 
tests, the district court found the employee was entitled to the higher bonus.  The Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals affirmed.   

What this means:  This case demonstrates that employers should be aware of USERRA’s various 
provisions and how they may impact not only the position, but the employment benefits, to 
which service members are entitled upon their return from activity duty. 
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IX. WARN ACT 

The International Brotherhood of Boilermakers v. NASSCO Holding, Inc., 17 Cal.App.5th 
1105 (2017) 

Under The California Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN”), 
Temporary Layoffs, Even Those Lasting For Less Than Six-Months, Are “Layoffs” That 
May Trigger An Employer’s Notice Duty  

Holding:  Employer violated California’s WARN Act when it failed to provide 60 days’ notice to 
over 90 employees who were laid off for periods of only three to five weeks. 

Discussion:  The California WARN Act provides, in relevant part, that covered employers must 
provide 60 days’ notice to affected employees before ordering a “mass layoff.”  The Act defines 
“mass layoff” as “a layoff during any 30-day period of 50 or more employees” and “layoff” as “a 
separation from a position for lack of funds or lack of work.”  Here, within a two-week period, 
the employer furloughed approximately 90 employees for periods of three to five weeks due to a 
temporary lull in work.  Affected employees were not provided advance notice of the temporary 
layoffs.  The employees’ union subsequently sued the employer, alleging the layoffs amounted to 
a “mass layoff” requiring 60 days’ notice pursuant to the California WARN Act.  The employer 
argued that no notice was required because the work stoppage was for but a brief period and 
therefore was neither a “layoff” nor a “mass layoff.”  The court of appeal determined that 
temporary layoffs, regardless of their length, are “layoffs” for purposes of the California WARN 
Act’s notice duty.  Looking at the plain language of the WARN statute, the court found that there 
was no temporal component to the definition of “layoff.”  The court also found compelling that 
the WARN Act defines “layoff” as a separation from “a position” and not from “an employer.”  
The court next looked to the WARN Act’s legislative history and underlying public policy, 
which indicate that the Act was meant to expand the protections of the Federal WARN Act and 
provide greater protections to California workers than is afforded under the federal law.  Based 
on the foregoing, the court concluded the California WARN Act’s definition of “layoff” 
“encompassed a temporary job loss, even if some form of the employment relationship continues 
and the employees are given a return date.” 

What this means:  California employers who plan to temporarily layoff large numbers of 
employees over a short period must consider whether the layoff, even if for a minimal amount of 
time, will trigger a California WARN Act notice obligation. 

X. EQUAL PAY ACT 

Rizo v. Yovino, 887 F.3d 453 (9th Cir. 2018), vacated and remanded by U.S. Supreme Court 
on 2/25/19 

Prior Salary Cannot Be Used To Justify A Wage Differential  

Holding:  An employer cannot justify a wage differential between male and female employees by 
relying on prior salary, either standing alone or as one of the factors considered under the 
“catchall exception” of the Equal Pay Act (“EPA”).   
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Discussion:  A female employee’s salary upon hire was determined pursuant to her employer’s 
policy that an employee’s starting salary was to be based in part on his or her prior salary.  
Factors such as education, skill, and experience were not considered in the salary determination.  
After some time with her employer, the female employee learned that male colleagues hired into 
the same position were being paid higher starting salaries, and she sued her employer for 
violations of the EPA.  The EPA prohibits employers from paying different wages to male and 
female employees for equal work, but employers may justify a gender pay differential by 
demonstrating one or more of the following four affirmative defenses: (1) a seniority system; (2) 
a merit system; (3) a system which measures earnings by quality or quantity of production; or (4) 
a differential “based on any other factor other than sex.”  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
held, as a matter of law, that the EPA’s fourth factor catchall provision – “any other factor other 
than sex” – cannot include an employee’s previous salary.  The court reasoned that at the time of 
the passage of the EPA, prior pay would have reflected a discriminatory marketplace that valued 
the equal work of one sex over the over, and Congress could not have intended to allow 
employers to rely on these discriminatory wages as a justification for continuing to perpetuate 
wage differentials.  Notably, the court declined to proclaim that prior salary may never be 
considered in determining an employee’s salary, such as in the course of an individualized salary 
negotiation. 

What this means:  This decision puts the EPA on similar footing as California law that prevents 
employers from asking candidates about prior salary during the hiring process.  Thus, all 
employers within the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals should not only avoid using prior pay in 
establishing employee compensation, but also consider reviewing the pay of existing employees 
whose starting pay was set based on prior pay as part of a broader audit of pay practices. 

XI. ICRAA/FCRA 

Connor v. First Student, Inc., 5 Cal.5th 1026 (2018) 

California Supreme Court Provides Clarity On Overlapping Background Check Laws 

Holding:  The Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act (“CCRAA”) and the Investigative 
Consumer Reporting Agencies Act (“ICRAA”) are not exclusive of each other, and employers 
can comply with both statutes without undermining the purpose of the other. 

Discussion:  Employees sued their employer and the investigative consumer reporting agencies 
that conducted their background checks for failure to satisfy the ICRAA’s specific requirement 
that they obtain the employees’ written authorizations before conducting background checks.  
The employer argued it was not liable to the employees on the basis that the ICRAA is 
unconstitutionally vague because it overlaps to some extent with the CCRAA and therefore fails 
to adequately notify regulated entities whether the statute governs their conduct.  The California 
Supreme Court disagreed, finding that despite the statutes’ overlap, employers can comply with 
both the ICRAA and CCRAA without undermining the purpose of either.  Specifically, the Court 
held that if an employer seeks a prospective employee’s credit records only, then the employer 
need only comply with the CCRAA.  Likewise, if an employer seeks other information by any 
means, then it must comply with the ICRAA.  In the event that any information revealed in an 
ICRAA report contains a prospective employee’s credit information, then the ICRAA would thus 
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overlap with the CCRAA, and the employer is required to comply with the requirements of both 
statutes, even if that requires greater formality in obtaining a consumer’s credit records. 

What this means:  Employers whose background checks fall under the purview of the ICRAA 
must comply with its provisions, regardless of whether an employee’s background check report 
also triggers the requirements of the CCRAA.  Employers should therefore review the scope of 
information they believe they will receive as a result of an employee background check, and if it 
appears possible the information they will receive may be covered by the ICRAA, they should 
seek a prospective employee’s written authorization prior to conducting the check. 

XII. PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT/GOVERNMENT ISSUES 

A. First Amendment 

IMDb.com, Inc. v. Becerra, 2018 WL 979031 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 20, 2018) 

California Statute Requiring Internet Sites to Remove Actors’ Ages Upon Request Struck 
Down by District Court 

Holding:  California is permanently enjoined from enforcing a law that requires database internet 
sites to remove actors’ ages upon request because the statute cannot withstand strict scrutiny and 
violates internet sites’ First Amendment rights. 

Discussion:  In 2016, California passed a law requiring database websites (such as Internet 
Movie Database (“IMDb”) to remove an actor’s age if requested, with the goal of preventing 
discrimination in Hollywood casting against older actors.  IMDb brought suit, claiming violation 
of its First Amendment rights.  The Northern District of California issued a preliminary 
injunction against the law in 2017. 

Both parties moved for summary judgment, and the district court granted IMDb’s motion for 
summary judgment and issued a permanent injunction against the law.  The court held that the 
state failed to show that partially eliminating one source of age-related information will 
“appreciably diminish the amount of age discrimination occurring in the entertainment industry,” 
especially since sites such as Wikipedia are not covered by the law.  The court found that less 
invasive options such as beefing up existing discrimination rules should have been tried first, and 
regulation of speech should be a last resort.  The court said the law should have sought to fight 
discrimination against women, since age bias is “far more a problem of sex discrimination.”  
However, the state failed to show how posting age information could prevent objectifying and 
devaluing women in the entertainment industry. 

What this means:  State attempts to regulate information on the internet will be closely 
scrutinized to ensure they meet the stated goals. 
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Janus v. American Federation of State, County, & Municipal Employees, Council 31, 138 
S.Ct. 2448 (2018) 

State Law Forcing Public Employees To Subsidize Unions, Even If They Do Not Belong 
And Object To Many Of The Unions’ Positions And Activities, Violates Nonmembers’ Free 
Speech Rights 

Holding:  Illinois law requiring public employees to subsidize the union, even if they choose not 
to join and strongly object to its positions, violates nonmembers’ free-speech rights by 
compelling them to subsidize private speech on matters of substantial public concern.  The U.S. 
Supreme Court overruled Abood v. Detroit Bd. of Ed., 431 U.S. 209 (1977), which held that 
nonmembers may be charged by a union for activities germane to its duties as collective-
bargaining representative, but not its political and ideological projects. 

Discussion:  Under the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act (“IPLRA”), employees of the state 
and its political subdivisions may unionize.  If a majority of the employees in a bargaining unit 
vote to be represented by a union, it is designated as the exclusive representative of all the 
employees.  Employees are not obligated to join the union, but only the union may negotiate with 
the employer on their behalf as to pay, wages, hours, and other conditions of employment. 
Employees who decline to join the union do not pay full dues, but they must pay an agency fee. 

The IPLRA provides that an agency fee may compensate a union for the costs incurred in “the 
collective bargaining process, contract administration[,] and pursuing matters affecting wages, 
hours[,] and conditions of employment.”  Nonmembers were also charged for activities 
connected to collective bargaining, including “[l]obbying,” “[s]ocial and recreational activities,” 
“advertising,” “[m]embership meetings and conventions,” and “litigation,” as well as other 
“[s]ervices” that “may ultimately inure to the benefit of the members of the local bargaining 
unit.”  The agency fee excludes union expenditures “related to the election or support of any 
candidate for political office.” 

The union categorizes its expenditures as chargeable or nonchargeable to determine a 
nonmember’s “proportionate share;” this determination is audited; the amount of the 
“proportionate share” is certified to the employer; and the employer automatically deducts that 
amount from the nonmembers’ wages.  The total chargeable amount for nonmembers was 
78.06% of full union dues. 

Public employee refused to join the union representing his bargaining unit because he opposed 
many of its positions, including its positions regarding collective bargaining, which employee 
contended did not appreciate the current Illinois fiscal crisis or reflect the best interests of its 
citizens. 

The majority did not decide whether an agency-fee requirement must meet strict scrutiny, finding 
that the IPLRA scheme violated even “exacting scrutiny,” which requires that a compelled 
subsidy must “serve a compelling state interest that cannot be achieved through means 
significantly less restrictive of associational freedoms.” 

The majority considered and rejected Abood’s reasons for permitting agency fees to be charged 
to nonmembers.  First, the majority assumed that the state had a compelling interest in “labor 
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peace” – preventing conflict that might occur if employees were represented by more than one 
union – but found this concern unfounded.  Federal employees, postal employees, and public 
employees in 28 states have exclusive union representation without a requirement to pay agency 
fees, but none of these has had issues with inter-union rivalries.  Second, the majority found that 
avoiding “free riders” is not a compelling state interest, and that free-rider arguments are 
generally insufficient to overcome First Amendment objections – even when a union is required 
by statute to represent the interests of all public employees, whether or not members.  The 
majority suggested that any burden imposed by representation of nonmembers could be 
addressed through less restrictive means, such as charging specific service fees or denying 
representation altogether. 

The majority also found that the Pickering framework for determining whether public employee 
speech was protected by the First Amendment did not apply.  Pickering v. Board of Ed. of 
Township High School Dist. 205, Will Cty., 391 U.S. 563 (1995).  “When a large number of 
employees speak through their union, the category of speech that is of public concern is greatly 
enlarged, and the category of speech that is of only private concern is substantially shrunk.”  The 
majority held that the IPLRA agency fee would not survive Pickering because union speech does 
not form part of the official duties of union officers who speak; union speech addresses many 
matters of substantial public concern, such as how public money is spent; and as discussed 
above, the state’s interests do not justify the “heavy burden” of agency fees upon nonmembers’ 
First Amendment rights. 

What this means:  Unions can no longer require that an agency fee be deducted from nonmember 
employees’ paychecks to cover their proportionate share of the costs of the unions’ activities 
“unless employees clearly and affirmatively consent before money is taken.”  (They may, 
however, be able to charge a service fee of individual nonmembers for specific activities, and the 
unions may deny nonmembers representation altogether.) 

Justice Kagan noted in dissent that not only does this decision invalidate the statutory schemes in 
more than 20 states and contracts involving millions of employees, but it upends First 
Amendment principles underpinning four decades of Supreme Court decisions based on Abood. 

Masterpiece Cakeshop Ltd. v. Colorado Civil Rights Commission, 138 S.Ct. 1719 (2018) 

State Civil Rights Commission’s Apparent Hostility To Baker’s Religious Objection To 
Same-Sex Marriage Violated State’s First Amendment Obligation Not To Base Laws Or 
Regulations Upon Hostility To Religion Or Religious Viewpoint 

Holding:  The Colorado Civil Rights Commission’s evident hostility to religion violated the 
state’s obligation of religious neutrality under the free exercise clause of the First Amendment, 
as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Discussion:  Jack Phillips, an expert baker and devout Christian, has owned and operated 
Masterpiece Cakeshop (“Masterpiece”) for 24 years.  He believes that God intends marriage to 
be the union of one man and one woman. 

In 2012, Charlie Craig and Dave Mullins planned to marry in Massachusetts, then host a 
reception for family and friends in their home state of Colorado, which did not then recognize 
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same-sex marriages.  The two visited Phillips’s shop to request a cake for their wedding.  Phillips 
informed them that he does not create wedding cakes for same-sex weddings.  When Craig’s 
mother phoned Masterpiece the next day, Phillips further explained that he had a religious 
opposition to same-sex marriage, and Colorado did not recognize same-sex marriage. 

Colorado law bars discrimination in public accommodations, including on the basis of sexual 
orientation.  The state’s anti-discrimination law provides that complaints are initially addressed 
by the Colorado Civil Rights Division.  The Division investigates each claim, and if it finds 
probable cause that the anti-discrimination law has been violated, refers the matter to the 
Colorado Civil Rights Commission.  The Commission may initiate a formal hearing before an 
Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”).  The ALJ’s decision may be appealed to the Commission, 
which holds a public hearing and deliberations before deciding a case. 

Craig and Mullins filed a discrimination complaint against Masterpiece and Phillips.  They 
alleged they had been denied “full and equal service” because of their sexual orientation and that 
it was Phillips’s “standard business practice” to not provide cakes for same-sex weddings. 

The investigator from the Civil Rights Division found that Phillips had turned away customers 
seeking same-sex wedding cakes on the basis of sexual orientation on multiple occasions and 
found it probable he had violated the law.  The Division referred the case to the Commission. 

The Commission conducted a formal hearing, and the ALJ determined Phillips had engaged in 
discrimination.  Phillips argued that applying Colorado’s anti-discrimination law in a way that 
would require him to bake cakes for same-sex weddings would violate his First Amendment 
right to free speech by compelling him to use his artistic talents to express a message with which 
he disagreed and would also violate his First Amendment right to the free exercise of religion. 

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision in full.  Phillips appealed, and the Colorado Court 
of Appeals affirmed.  Phillips appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court. 

The majority noted that although religious and philosophical objections to gay marriage are 
protected, they generally do not permit business owners and other economic actors to deny equal 
access to goods and services.  The majority noted that there was no dispute that Colorado could 
prevent Phillips from refusing to sell any goods or cakes for gay weddings, but noted that 
Phillips objected more narrowly to using his own creation to endorse gay marriage, a dilemma 
“particularly understandable” given that Colorado had not then recognized gay marriage, and the 
Supreme Court had not issued its decisions in U.S. v. Windsor, 133 S.Ct. 2675 (2013) and 
Obergefell v. Hodges, 135 S.Ct. 2584 (2015).  Further, the Colorado Civil Rights Division had 
found that state law afforded shopkeepers some latitude to decline to create specific messages, 
including three times finding that bakers acted lawfully in refusing to create cakes with messages 
that demeaned gays or gay marriage. 

The majority found that although the state could have found differently, it was required to do so 
only after “neutral and respectful consideration of his claims,” which Phillips was denied. 
Rather, the majority found that the Commission’s treatment of Phillips’s case showed “clear and 
impermissible hostility toward [his] sincere religious beliefs.”  During one meeting, the 
commissioners repeatedly endorsed the view that religious beliefs cannot legitimately be carried 
into the public sphere at all, and implied that religious persons are not welcome in Colorado’s 



 

37 
California Case Law Update 2019 

© 2019 Paul, Plevin, Sullivan & Connaughton LLP 

business community.  In another meeting, a commissioner said, “And to me it is one of the most 
despicable pieces of rhetoric that people can use to – to use their religion to hurt others.”  The 
majority found that this characterization of religion as “despicable” and mere “rhetoric” showed 
hostility to religion.  The majority further noted that other bakers who objected to a requested 
cake (demeaning gays and/or gay marriage) on the basis of conscience had prevailed before the 
Commission, showing further evidence of hostility to religion. 

The majority thus found that the Commission’s treatment of Phillips’s case violated the state’s 
duty under the First Amendment not to base laws or regulations on hostility to a religion or 
religious viewpoint. 

What this means:  Even when enforcing widely accepted anti-discrimination laws or principles a 
decision-maker must remain neutral regarding the validity of the alleged discriminator’s reasons 
and rights.   

B. Due Process/Equal Protection 

Palm v. Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, 889 F.3d 1081 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Public Employees Do Not Always Have A Property Interest In Their Positions 

Holding:  If a city employee does not have a protected property interest in a probationary 
position, they also do not have a claim under the Fourteenth Amendment for lack of due process 
if/when such probationary employment is terminated. 

Discussion:  Employer promoted one of its permanent employees to a supervisor position with a 
six-month probationary period.  After five months, the employee was given the choice to resign 
or be terminated from his probationary supervisor position.  Employee resigned, and returned to 
his prior permanent position.  Employee then sued for whistleblower retaliation and related 
claims.  Later, the employee sought leave to amend his complaint to allege that the employer’s 
threat to terminate him from his probationary position violated his due process rights under the 
Fourteenth Amendment.  The district court denied leave to amend and dismissed the action with 
prejudice.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the employee lacked a 
constitutionally protected property interest in his probationary position based on a plain reading 
of the Los Angeles Charter and Los Angeles Civil Service Rules.  These governing documents 
clearly reflected that employees’ probationary positions were not vested with a protected 
property interest and the fact that the employee had permanent status in his prior position did not 
give him such status in a probationary position. 

What this means:  Government employers who use probationary periods should make sure that 
the governing charters and civil service rules clearly establish that during such periods, 
termination need not be for “just cause” and the “employee may be rejected at any time without 
right of hearing or appeal.” 
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C. Title VII 

Clemens, Jr. v. Centurylink Inc., 874 F.3d 1113 (9th Cir. 2017) 

Ninth Circuit Court Of Appeals Permits Gross-Up Adjustments In Title VII Cases 

Holding:  A federal court had the authority and discretion to permit an equitable gross-up 
adjustment to compensate a former employee for his increased income tax liability resulting 
from a Title VII damages award. 

Discussion:  Employee sued employer for race discrimination and retaliation in violation of Title 
VII.  A jury found for employee on his retaliation claim and awarded him over $157,000 for lost 
wages and benefits.  Back-pay awards are taxable, and employee requested a tax consequence 
adjustment or “gross-up” to compensate his increased income tax liability resulting from the 
receipt of the back pay award in a single lump sum.  Employee argued the lump-sum award 
pushed him into a higher tax bracket than he would have occupied had he received his pay 
incrementally over several years.  This increased tax liability, he argued, effectively denied him 
what Title VII promises – full relief that puts him where he would be had the unlawful conduct 
not occurred.  The federal court denied the request based on the lack of authorization from the 
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the split among other circuits on this issue.  The Ninth 
Circuit Court of Appeals joined the Third, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits, and rejected the D.C. 
Circuit, in holding district courts have the discretion to award an equitable gross-up adjustment.  
The court did note, however, that its holding does not mean a prevailing plaintiff is 
presumptively entitled to an additional award to offset tax consequences.  There may be factors 
that render a gross-up not appropriate, such as the difficulty in determining the gross up amount 
or the negligibility of the amount at issue.  The party seeking relief bears the burden of showing 
an income-tax disparity and justifying any adjustment. 

What this means:  Employers may be on the hook for additional gross-up adjustment awards on 
any back pay awarded to a prevailing employee in a Title VII case. 

XIII. CIVIL PROCEDURE/GENERAL LITIGATION ISSUES 

A. Summary Judgment 

Abed v. Western Dental Services, Inc., 23 Cal.App.5th 726 (2018) 

In A Failure To Hire Case, An “Applicant” Need Not Actually Apply For A Position 

Holding:  An applicant’s failure to hire claim can survive summary judgment, even if she did not 
apply for an open position. 

Discussion:  Applicant, a pregnant female, sued her potential employer for sex discrimination, 
alleging that she was denied a job due to pregnancy.  Prior to the job at issue, applicant was hired 
for an externship as a dental assistant at employer.  During her externship, employer learned of 
applicant’s pregnancy and applicant overheard her supervisor say, “Well, if she’s pregnant, I 
don’t want to hire her.”  Despite overhearing this, applicant asked about a permanent position 
and applicant’s supervisor told her that no position was currently available.  For this reason, 
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applicant did not apply to the position that was posted a few weeks later.  During litigation, 
employer moved for summary adjudication based on the fact that applicant could not meet her 
prima facie burden because she could not establish that she applied for and was denied a 
position.  The trial court granted the motion because it was undisputed that applicant had not 
submitted an application for the position at issue.  The court of appeal agreed with applicant that 
the trial court improperly dismissed her California Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”) 
claim.  The court stated, “the elements of a prima facie case under McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. 
Green, 93 S.Ct. 1817 (1973) can vary depending on the plaintiff’s allegations, and the plaintiff 
need not establish any particular element so long as he or she ultimately presents enough 
evidence to support an inference that an employment decision was discriminatory.”  Even though 
applicant never applied for a job, the court of appeal found that applicant raised a triable issue of 
fact regarding intentional sex discrimination.  The court reasoned, “Employers who lie about the 
existence of open positions are not immune from liability under FEHA simply because they are 
effective in keeping protected persons from applying.” 

What this means:  Employers should train all employees with hiring authority to be mindful 
when discussing open positions (and pregnancy), even in casual internal conversations.  Current 
employees can be potential applicants, and none should be discouraged from applying for a 
position, because such discouragement can be interpreted as intentional discrimination. 

B. SLAPP Suit 

Bel Air Internet, LLC v. Morales, 20 Cal.App.5th 924 (2018) 

Allegations In Complaint Govern In Anti-SLAPP Hearing 

Holding:  In the anti-SLAPP context, if a complaint itself shows that a claim arises from 
protected conduct, a moving party may rely on the plaintiff’s allegations alone in making the 
showing necessary under prong one without submitting supporting evidence. 

Discussion:  Employer filed suit for breach of contract and intentional interference with 
contractual relations, alleging that employees encouraged fellow employees to quit and sue 
employer for employment violations rather than sign a general release offered by the employer to 
employees.  Employees filed an anti-SLAPP motion, denying that they had encouraged other 
employees to quit and sue employer.  The superior court found that employees did not meet 
prong one of the Anti-SLAPP statute, which requires that the lawsuit arise from protected 
activity, because of the declarations denying plaintiff’s allegations. 

The court of appeal reversed, finding that a party filing an anti-SLAPP motion can rely solely on 
plaintiff’s allegations to show the required protected activity.  Even though the statute states that 
a court “shall consider” both the pleadings and supporting and opposing affidavits, that does not 
mean a moving party is required to submit such affidavits.  The court also reasoned that the 
opposite result would create a practical problem in which a defendant who denies the underlying 
facts in a complaint would not be able to bring an anti-SLAPP claim to defend itself against 
factually baseless claims.  Therefore, as long as the complaint and declarations from employer 
showed that employees engaged in protected conduct, prong one is satisfied.  The court also 
found that the alleged encouragement of others to sue was “serious and active” because it 
resulted in disruption of employer’s employment relationships and was done at the direction of 
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an attorney.  Furthermore, it was not necessary to show that the individuals they were 
encouraging to sue employer seriously considered litigation.  Therefore, the conduct was 
sufficient to qualify as protected pre-litigation conduct and prong one was satisfied. 

What this means:  A defendant can pursue an anti-SLAPP motion both by relying on a plaintiff’s 
allegations and submitting its own declarations rebutting those allegations, even if they challenge 
the factual underpinnings to plaintiff’s claims that show the complaint is based on protected 
activity. 

C. Jury Instructions 

Snapp v. United Transportation Union, 889 F.3d 1088 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Burden Shifting Only Applies At The Summary Judgment Phase Of Litigation 

Holding:  At trial, unlike summary judgment, the burden does not shift, and the employee bears 
the burden of showing that the employer could have made a reasonable accommodation that 
would have enabled him to perform the essential functions of the job. 

Discussion:  Employee was diagnosed with sleep apnea, and was found to be totally disabled.  
He received disability benefits from a third party disability benefits administer for approximately 
six years.  At that point, the administrator requested the employee undergo a sleep study to verify 
his continuing disability.  The employee refused to do so, and the administrator informed 
employee that he had 60 days to secure a position with his employer.  After this period expired, 
the employer terminated his employment, and the employee sued for failure to accommodate his 
disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”).  During trial, the employee 
sought jury instructions that would impose liability on the employer for failing to collaborate 
with him, unless the employer could prove that accommodating him would cause undue harm.  
The request was rejected, and the jury returned a verdict for the employer.  The employee 
appealed, arguing that the court improperly instructed the jury that he needed to prove the 
employer could have made a reasonable accommodation for his condition.  In affirming the 
district court’s ruling, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the employee has the burden 
of showing the existence of a reasonable accommodation that would have enabled him to 
perform the essential functions of his job.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals explained that the 
employee’s argument improperly relied on the burden-shifting framework established for 
summary judgment, not trial. 

What this means:  While failure to engage in the interactive process may preclude summary 
judgment on a failure to accommodate ADA claim, it may not preclude a jury verdict in favor of 
the employer at trial. 
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D. Evidence and Privileges 

Meeks v. Autozone, Inc., 24 Cal.App.5th 855 (2018) 

Employee May Testify About Unavailable Documentary Evidence And “Me Too” Evidence 
May Be Admissible 

Holding:  Employee testimony about the sexual content of text messages she was unable to 
recover is admissible, and “me too” evidence is admissible when it concerns fact patterns similar 
to those at issue and its probative value clearly outweighs any prejudice. 

Discussion:  Female employee sued employer and alleged harasser for sexual harassment.  She 
alleged that the harasser regularly commented on her body and clothes, asked her to go out with 
him or have sex with him, and texted her messages with sexual content, including images and 
video.  She alleged that he forcibly attempted to kiss her three times, succeeding once.  The 
harasser suggested that he could get employee promoted if he chose or fired if she reported him. 
Employee reported the harasser to their shared supervisor, who encouraged her to ignore it.  
When employee’s husband, also an employee, reported the alleged harassment, employee’s 
supervisor was “forced” to alert Human Resources, but told employee to tell Human Resources 
that everything had been taken care of.  Employee’s supervisor also threatened to fire employee 
and her husband if she took her complaints further.  Human Resources did not contact employee 
about the complaint for several months.  Shortly thereafter, the harasser was fired for sending a 
sexual text message to another employee. 

The trial court granted summary judgment on employee’s retaliation claim.  The jury returned 
defense verdicts on her claims for hostile work environment, failure to prevent harassment and 
retaliation, and sexual battery.  Employee challenged the trial court’s evidentiary rulings. 

The court of appeal reversed, finding that the trial court committed reversible error.  The trial 
court should have permitted employee to testify regarding the content of text messages sent from 
the harasser to her.  Evidence Code section 1521 provides for proof of the content of a writing by 
otherwise admissible secondary evidence, including when the proponent does not have a copy of 
the writing and the original has been destroyed through no fault of hers.  Employee’s 
recollections about the allegedly very explicit text messages “are no more speculation than her 
memories of things [harasser] said to her, or his physical actions towards her.” 

The trial court also improperly excluded “me too” evidence regarding the harasser’s conduct 
towards other employees without proper analysis.  “Me too” evidence may be admissible to 
prove a defendant’s motive or intent when it concerns fact patterns similar to the one at issue and 
its probative value clearly outweighs any prejudice. 

The court of appeal found that it was reasonably probable that absent the trial court’s erroneous 
evidentiary rulings, employee would have received a more favorable result at trial.  The 
judgment of the trial court was reversed and the matter remanded for new trial. 

What this means:  A sexual harassment plaintiff can testify about digital communications that he 
or she is unable to proffer through no fault of their own, and evidence of similar harassing 
conduct by the alleged harasser will likely be admissible.  The court’s ruling shows that 
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evidentiary rulings excluding evidence of alleged sexual harassment must reflect thoughtful 
consideration of the applicable factors to be upheld.  

E. Attorney’s Fees and Costs 

Bustos v. Global P.E.T., Inc., 19 Cal.App.5th 558 (2017) 

Trial Court Properly Denied Attorney’s Fees To Employee Who Proved His Termination 
Was Substantially Motivated By His Disabilities, But Was Not The Prevailing Party At 
Trial 

Holding:  Employee was not a “prevailing party” under Government Code section 12965 
because he failed to recover any economic or equitable relief, and therefore, he was not entitled 
to attorney’s fees. 

Discussion:  Employee and a number of his co-workers were terminated by his employer in an 
economic layoff.  Employee sued the employer alleging his disabilities were a substantial 
motivating reason for his termination.  At trial, the jury awarded employee nothing, although the 
jury answered “Yes” to the special verdict form question: “Were [employee’s disabilities] a 
substantial motivating reason for [the employer’s] decision to discharge [employee]?”  The jury 
also answered “No” to the question of whether employer’s “conduct” was a “substantial factor in 
causing harm to [employee].”  Based on the jury’s finding that employee’s disabilities were a 
substantial motivating reason for his termination, employee’s attorneys requested an award of 
$454,000 in fees under the Fair Employment and Housing Act, Government Code section 12965.  
The trial court did not award fees, and employee appealed.  In affirming the trial court, the court 
of appeal found it was reasonable for the trial court to give priority to the result embodied by the 
judgment, rather than the jury’s special verdict findings, in determining who prevailed. 

What this means:  This decision should discourage claims for attorney’s fees based only on 
favorable special verdict form questions where a plaintiff has no practical prevailing party status.  
This decision, however, may also encourage the pursuit of more equitable claims – injunctive 
and declaratory relief – in which a plaintiff has another means of realizing prevailing party 
status. 

F. Other 

Artis v. District of Columbia, 138 S.Ct. 594 (2018) 

Clock For State Claims Stops In Federal Court 

Holding:  28 U.S.C. section 1367(d)’s instruction to toll a state limitations period means to hold 
it in abeyance, i.e., to stop the clock. 

Discussion:  Employee was a former health inspector for the District of Columbia (D.C.).  
Following her termination, employee filed a federal-court suit alleging a federal employment-
discrimination claim and three allied claims under D.C. law.  That suit was later dismissed by a 
federal court, which declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over her state-law claims.   
Fifty-nine days following the dismissal, employee filed the state-law claims in a D.C. trial court.  
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The court dismissed the lawsuit, holding that the tolling provision in 28 U.S.C. section 1367(d) 
merely provides 30 days beyond the dismissal for the plaintiff to refile – a deadline employee 
missed.  The court of appeal affirmed. 

Section 1367(d) says that the “period of limitations . . . shall be tolled while the claim is pending 
[in federal court] and for a period of 30 days after it is dismissed unless State law provides for a 
longer tolling period.”  Section 1367(d) often comes into play where a federal court dismisses all 
claims for which there is an independent basis for federal subject-matter jurisdiction, and then 
declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction (pursuant to section 1367(c)) over the remaining 
claims.  Splitting 5-4, the Supreme Court reversed and remanded, ruling that the statute of 
limitations for state claims is suspended while those claims are pending in federal court, a pro-
plaintiff interpretation of the federal supplemental jurisdiction statute. 

What this means:  This pro-plaintiff ruling expands the time many employees have to file suit 
and may result in more state law claims against employers. 

Hamer v. Neighborhood Housing Services of Chicago, 138 S.Ct. 13 (2017) 

Federal Rule Of Appellate Procedure, Rule 4(a)(5)(C), Which Sets The Limit For An 
Extension Of Time To File A Notice Of Appeal, Is A Nonjurisdictional, Claim-Processing 
Rule 

Holding:  The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals erred in treating Rule 4(a)(5)(C)’s 30-day 
limitation on extensions to file a notice of appeal as jurisdictional. 

Discussion:  Employee brought Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”) and Title VII 
claims against employer.  The district court granted summary judgment to employer.  
Employee’s counsel withdrew his representation just days before employee’s notice of appeal 
was due, and the district court granted employee a 60-day extension to file her appeal.  Federal 
Rule of Appellate Procedure, Rule 4(a)(5)(C), however, confines the extension a district court 
may provide for filing a notice of appeal to 30 days from the prescribed time to file.  Concluding 
that Rule 4(a)(5)(C)’s time prescription is jurisdictional, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals 
dismissed employee’s appeal for failing to comply with the Rule.  The Supreme Court vacated 
the decision.  The Court clarified that whether the late filing of a notice of appeal necessitates 
dismissal of the appeal depends on whether the deadline to file is “jurisdictional.”  As only 
Congress may determine a lower federal court’s subject-matter jurisdiction, a deadline is 
jurisdictional only when it appears in a statute.  Otherwise, the deadline is a “mandatory claim-
processing rule.”  Because Rule 4(a)(5)(C) is absent from the U.S. Code, it is not jurisdictional, 
and the court of appeal erred in dismissing employee’s appeal under this rule.  This decision was 
meant to clarify the confusing language in Bowles v. Russell, 551 U.S. 205 (2007), which states 
“the taking of an appeal within the prescribed time is ‘mandatory and jurisdictional.’” 

What this means:  Court-made rules must be enforced, but they do not deprive a court of 
jurisdiction over a matter in the event a party fails to follow the rules. 
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Martinez v. Landry’s Restaurants, Inc., 26 Cal.App.5th 783 (2018) 

The Pendency Of A Federal Appeal Does Not Make It Impossible, Impracticable, Or Futile 
To Bring A Case To Trial In Five Years 

Holding:  In the absence of a federal stay, the period during which a federal appeal from an order 
remanding a case to state court is pending should be included when calculating the five-year 
period a plaintiff has to bring its state court case to trial.   

Discussion:  Under California law, plaintiffs must bring their cases to trial within five years of 
the filing date or face dismissal of their lawsuit with prejudice.  In this case, a putative class 
action filed in 2007 had not gone to trial by 2016.  The employer thus moved to dismiss the case 
under the “five year” rule, and the trial court granted the motion.  The employees appealed, 
asserting that the court failed to exclude from its calculation certain periods of time that made it 
“impossible, impracticable, or futile” to bring the action to trial within a five-year period, such as 
the period during which a federal appeal from an order remanding the case from federal to state 
court was pending.  The court of appeal affirmed the trial court’s ruling, finding that the time 
during which the federal appeal was pending was properly included in the five-year calculation 
because the federal court had not issued a stay.  Absent the stay, the court found no reason why it 
was impracticable for the employees to continue to pursue discovery during the relevant periods 
or move for class certification based on the pending appeal.     

What this means:  In cases involving lengthy, cross-jurisdictional class actions, parties should 
consider whether to seek a stay of an action during the pendency of an appeal in order to avoid 
running up against California’s five-year rule deadline.   

XIV. ARBITRATION 

Baxter v. Genworth North American Corp., 16 Cal.App.5th 713 (2017) 

Arbitration Agreements May Be Substantively Unconscionable Where They Limit 
Discovery And Unreasonably Limit The Applicable Statute Of Limitations 

Holding:  Employer’s motion to compel arbitration was denied given that its arbitration 
agreement was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable.  The court also ruled that 
severance of the offending provisions was not an option because the arbitration agreement was 
permeated by unconscionability. 

Discussion:  During her employment, employee agreed to arbitrate any disputes arising out of 
her employment according to guidelines set forth in the employer’s alternative dispute resolution 
program known as “Resolve.”  The Resolve program set forth four stages for pursuing dispute 
resolution which began with two levels of employer-controlled processes, then mediation and 
arbitration.  The employee sued her former employer for wrongful termination and the employer 
moved to compel arbitration, but was denied.  On appeal, the court affirmed the trial court’s 
order because the arbitration agreement was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable.  
The court held the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable because the employee 
had no opportunity to negotiate the terms of the Resolve program, nor did she have any 
meaningful choice in the matter.  The court held the arbitration agreement was substantively 
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unconscionable because, among other things, the employer’s Resolve guidelines: (1) prohibited 
employees and their attorneys from obtaining information outside the formal discovery process, 
but did not similarly restrict the employer; (2) set default limitations on discovery that could be 
conducted in preparation for arbitration, including limiting an employee to receiving his or her 
personnel or medical file, limiting each party to ten interrogatories, five written requests for 
documents, and two depositions for a total of no more than eight hours, and which gave an 
arbitrator authority to increase the amount of discovery for “good and sufficient cause shown;” 
and (3) shortened the applicable statute of limitations under the Federal Employment and 
Housing Act (“FEHA”) to an unreasonable period given that it only allowed employees one year 
to pursue relief for FEHA violations (which is the time required to file an administrative FEHA 
claim).  The court held that the employer’s requirement that employees participate in an informal 
company-controlled dispute resolution process and the $50 initiation fee were not 
unconscionable. 

What this means:  Under this ruling, most employer’s arbitration agreements would be found to 
be procedurally unconscionable.  Employers should have counsel review their arbitration 
agreements to ensure they are valid and not substantively unconscionable. 

Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis, 138 S.Ct. 1612 (2018) 

Class Waivers In Arbitration Agreements Must Be Enforced 

Holding:  Arbitration agreements providing for individualized proceedings must be enforced 
according to their terms, and neither the Federal Arbitration Act’s (“FAA”) saving clause nor the 
National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”) suggests otherwise. 

Discussion:  Employees signed arbitration agreements requiring them to arbitrate employment 
disputes individually, thereby waiving their right to bring class and collective actions in court.  
Regardless, the employees brought collective claims against their employers under the federal 
Fair Labor Standards Act.  While the FAA generally requires courts to enforce arbitration 
agreements, the employees argued that its “saving clause” removes this obligation if an 
arbitration agreement violates some other federal law.  Here, the employees contended that by 
requiring individualized proceedings, the agreements violated Section 7 of the NLRA, which 
protects employee’s right to engage in “concerted activities.”  The U.S. Supreme Court held that 
the waivers do not violate the NLRA and are enforceable.  The U.S. Supreme Court reasoned 
that the saving clause of the FAA only applied to arbitration agreements based on generally 
applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability.  Furthermore, the U.S. 
Supreme Court explained that the “concerted activities” protection in Section 7 of the NLRA 
should be understood in the context of union organizing campaigns and collective bargaining.  
Class actions as we know them today were virtually unknown when the NLRA was adopted in 
1935, therefore, the U.S. Supreme Court found it unlikely that Congress intended for the NLRA 
to confer a right to participate in class or collective actions against employers. 

What this means:  Collective action waivers in arbitration agreements are now generally 
enforceable for employers, and any existing agreements should be re-evaluated in light of this 
ruling.  Courts may still refuse to enforce such agreements in cases of fraud, duress, or 
unconscionability.  However, California employees’ right to bring a Private Attorneys General 
Act claim against employers is left intact. 
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Huff v. Securitas Security Services USA, Inc., 23 Cal.App.5th 745 (2018) 

Private Attorneys General Act  (“PAGA”) Claims Can Be Pursued By Employees Who Are 
Not Injured By The Labor Code Violation At Issue 

Holding:  PAGA allows an “aggrieved employee” – a person affected by at least one Labor Code 
violation committed by an employer – to pursue penalties for all other Labor Code violations 
committed by that employer. 

Discussion:  After an employee was removed from an assignment at the request of a client he 
resigned his employment.  Two months later, the employee sued his employer.  The second 
amended complaint contained a representative cause of action under PAGA, seeking penalties 
for Labor Code violations committed against him and other employees.  At first, the trial court 
granted the employer’s motion for judgment on certain claims made by the employee because the 
alleged violations did not affect him personally.  The court later found this ruling was an error, 
and granted the employee’s motion for new trial.  Employer appealed.  The court of appeal 
affirmed, holding that the employee had standing to pursue penalties for both violations that 
affected him personally and those that did not.  This is because under PAGA, any “aggrieved 
employee” may pursue penalties for Labor Code violations on behalf of other employees.  Labor 
Code section 2699(c) defines an aggrieved employee as anyone “employed by the alleged 
violator and against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed.”  Therefore, so 
long as the employee could prove he was affected by at least one Labor Code violation, he may 
pursue penalties on behalf of other employees for additional violations. 

What this means:  An employer is not off the hook for a Labor Code violation simply because 
the group of affected employees choose not to take action.  A unaffected employee with another 
unrelated Labor Code violation claim may still bring suit against the employer on behalf of those 
personally affected by another violation. 

Muro v. Cornerstone Staffing Solutions, Inc., 20 Cal.App.5th 784 (2018) 

California Law, Not The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), Applied To Transportation 
Worker 

Holding:  The FAA did not apply to a California transportation worker, and the class action 
waiver in the employer’s arbitration agreement was not enforceable. 

Discussion:  Employee, a truck driver placed at a shipping company through employer (a staffing 
firm), signed an employment contract with an arbitration clause incorporating a class action 
waiver.  Employee filed a class action alleging Labor Code violations, and employer moved to 
compel arbitration and dismiss the class claims.  The trial court found that the contract was 
exempt from the FAA and denied arbitration because the class action waiver was unenforceable. 

The court of appeal affirmed.  The FAA applies to employment contracts involving interstate 
commerce, but contains an exemption for transportation workers.  Employee was indisputably a 
transportation worker, but employer argued that it also had to be in the transportation industry.  
The court rejected the argument, and further, determined that employer had a transportation 
division generating 8% of its revenue, which was sufficient.  Finding the California Arbitration 
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Act applied instead of the FAA, the court applied the Gentry v. Superior Court, 42 Cal.4th 443 
(2007)  four-factor analysis to the class waiver.  Based on this analysis, the court upheld the trial 
court’s determination that class proceeding was “likely to be a significantly more effective 
practical means of vindicating the rights of affected employees than individual litigation or 
arbitration,” and that there would be a “less comprehensive enforcement” of the applicable laws 
if the class action device is disallowed.  Since neither party agreed to class arbitration, the 
petition to compel arbitration was properly denied. 

What this means:  Any employer who employs transportation workers who work in California 
will likely be subject to the California Arbitration Act with the resultant stringent standard 
applied to class action waivers. 

Raines v. Coastal Pacific Food Distributors, Inc., 23 Cal.App.5th 667 (2018) 

Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”) Claims Can Be Pursued Without Actual 
“Injury” 

Holding:  A PAGA claim for civil penalties for violation of Labor Code section 226(a) does not 
require proof of injury or a knowing and intentional violation. 

Discussion:  After her termination, an employee alleged her employer failed to provide and 
maintain accurate wage statements, violating Labor Code section 226(a).  The employee sought 
relief in a representative capacity under PAGA.  The trial court granted the employer’s motion 
for summary adjudication, finding that because the employee’s hourly overtime rate could be 
readily determined using simple math, there was no injury.  The court of appeals agreed with the 
employee, finding that a lack of injury does not bar a PAGA claim.  Although a showing of 
injury and the knowing or intentional violation of Section 226 may be required for an individual 
claim, which provides statutory penalties in Section 226(e), a PAGA claim only provides civil 
penalties.  Thus, the requirements for a Section 226(e) claim do not apply to a PAGA claim for 
violation of Section 226(a). 

What this means:  Employers need to be very careful to provide employees with compliant wage 
statements.  Even an unintentional technical violation that does not result in actual injury may 
give rise to a representative PAGA action. 

XV. NLRB DECISIONS/UNIONS/COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 

A. NLRB Decisions 

The Boeing Company, 365 NLRB No. 154 (Dec. 14, 2017) 

Former Lutheran Heritage “Reasonably Construe” Standard Rejected In Favor Of Stricter 
Standard 

Holding:  The National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”) must now evaluate an employer’s 
legitimate justifications for a facially neutral policy or rule that might have National Labor 
Relations Act (“NLRA”) implications instead of applying Lutheran Heritage’s “reasonably 
construe” standard. 
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Discussion:  Boeing had a “no-camera rule” restricting the use of camera-enabled devices (such 
as cell phones) on company property, which Boeing created to prevent the disclosure of secure 
and sometimes classified work.  Although the “no camera rule” was facially neutral, applying the 
“reasonably construe” standard previously articulated in Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 
NLRB No. 646 (2004), the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) nevertheless ruled that it violated 
the NLRA because employees could “reasonably construe” the rule as violating their concerted 
activity rights (such as taking photographs of a group protest). 

After Boeing filed exceptions, the NLRB rejected the Lutheran Heritage standard, finding that it 
entailed a “single-minded consideration of (employee) rights without taking into account any 
(employer) legitimate justifications” for workplace rules.  The NLRB articulated a new standard 
for employer workplace rules.  Now, in determining whether an otherwise facially neutral rule 
violates the NLRA, the NLRB will evaluate: (a) the nature and extent of the potential impact of 
any facially neutral rule, policy, or handbook provision on NLRA rights, and (b) any legitimate 
justifications associated with any such rule, policy, or provision.  Applying this new standard, the 
NLRB found Boeing’s no-camera rule to be lawful. 

The NLRB also announced that, prospectively, three categories of rules will be used to provide 
greater clarity and certainty to employees, employers, and unions: 

 1.  The first category contains rules that are legal in all cases because they cannot be 
reasonably interpreted to prohibit or interfere with the exercise of NLRA rights or because the 
potential adverse impact on protected rights is outweighed by justifications for the rule.  An 
example would be a rule that requires employees to abide by basic standards of civility. 

 2.  The second category contains rules that warrant individualized scrutiny in each case as 
to whether the rule would prohibit or interfere with NLRA rights, and if so, whether the adverse 
impact on NLRA-protected conduct is outweighed by legitimate business justifications.  As this 
category contains “sometimes lawful” rules, the NLRB did not provide an example. 

 3.  The third category contains rules that are always unlawful because they would 
prohibit or limit NLRA-protected conduct in a manner not outweighed by legitimate business 
justifications.  An example would be a rule that prohibits employees from discussing wages or 
benefits with one another. 

The NLRB also opined that, although the maintenance of particular rules may be lawful, the 
application of such rules to employees who have engaged in NLRA-protected conduct may 
violate the NLRA depending on the particular circumstances in a given case. 

What this means:  Although employers do not have to change their policies or practices based on 
this decision, they can expect the NLRB to continue issuing additional reversals of labor-friendly 
decisions. 
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Hy-Brand Indus. Contractors, Ltd., 366 NLRB No. 26 (Feb. 26, 2018)  

December 2017 Hy-Brand Decision Vacated And Union-Friendly Joint Employer Test In 
Browning-Ferris Industries Restored 

Holding:  The December 2017 decision of Hy-Brand Industrial Contractors, Ltd., 365 NLRB 
No. 156 (2017) is vacated and of no further effect. 

Discussion:  The NLRB overruled Browning Ferris in December 2017 in Hy-Brand Industrial 
Contractors, Ltd., 365 NLRB No. 156 (2017) which reversed decades of joint employer 
precedent in Browning-Ferris Industries, 362 NLRB No. 186 (2015).  The new standard stated 
that two entities are joint employers if they share or codetermine matters governing the essential 
terms and conditions of employment.  Indirect and reserved control is sufficient, and the mere 
right to control the essential terms and conditions of employment for employees at another entity 
could be a joint employer.   

However in February 2018, a panel vacated the December 2017 Hy-Brand decision based on a 
report issued by the NLRB’s Inspector General finding that one of the members of the Hy-Brand 
panel should have recused himself because his former law firm represented one of the employers 
in the Browning-Ferris decision and Hy-Brand was a “continuation of the Board’s deliberative 
process in Browning-Ferris.” 

What this means:  Hy-Brand Industrial Contractors, Ltd., 365 NLRB No. 156 (2017) is of no 
further effect and the union-friendly Browning-Ferris joint employer standard governs again. 

KHRG Employer, LLC, 366 NLRB No. 22 (Feb. 28, 2018) 

Employee Not Protected By NLRA After Security Breach To Engage In Protected Activity 

Holding:  A discharge of employee did not run afoul of Section 8 of the National Labor 
Relations Act (“NLRA”) where he engaged in egregious misconduct through a security violation 
in order to engage in protected concerted activity. 

Discussion:  Employee worked as a server at a restaurant owned by employer, who operated 
several hotels and restaurants.  Employee was a member of a union’s organizing committee 
seeking to represent employer’s workforce.  Employee led a delegation of employees and 
nonemployees into a secured area of a hotel to deliver a petition to the manager.  He 
misrepresented to a security guard that all individuals were able to access the secured area, and 
entered a passcode to gain entry.  Several individuals were left unattended during delivery and 
the secured area contained cash, checks, personnel files, and financial documents.  Employer 
investigated and terminated employee for a security breach. 

The NLRB found that the delivery of the petition was a protected concerted activity, but that 
employee’s misconduct was so egregious it lost the protection of the NLRA.  The NLRB pointed 
to the fact that the delegation only obtained access because of employee’s misrepresentation and 
use of a passcode for unauthorized access, which was a flagrant violation of security protocol. 
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What this means:  Employers can terminate employees for egregious misconduct, such as 
security violations, even when that employee engages in the misconduct for the purpose of 
engaging in protected concerted activity. 

83 FR 46681: The Standard for Determining Joint-Employer Status 

September 14, 2018: Proposed Rule by the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”)  

Discussion:  On September 14, 2018, the NLRB announced publication of a proposed rule that 
will establish a new and far narrower standard for joint employment.  The NLRB’s proposed rule 
would change the standard for determining whether one employer can be found to be a joint 
employer of another employer’s employees.  Under the proposed rule, an employer may be 
found to be a joint-employer of another employer’s employees only if it possesses and exercises 
substantial, direct and immediate control over the essential terms and conditions of employment 
and has done so in a manner that is not limited and routine.  Indirect influence and contractual 
reservations of authority would no longer be sufficient to establish a joint-employer relationship.  
The NLRB states that “the intent of the proposed rule is to foster predictability and consistency 
regarding determinations of joint-employer status in a variety of business relationships, thereby 
promoting labor-management stability.”  The proposed rule may be found at: 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/09/14/2018-19930/definition-of-joint-
employer.  The comment period ends November 13, 2018. 

What this means:  The change to current law that would be effectuated by the proposed rule, 
should it become final after notice and comment, would be that a company could no longer be 
deemed to be a joint employer of another employer’s workers based solely on its indirect 
influence, a contractual reservation of authority that the company has never exercised, or its 
exercise of only “limited and routine” authority.  

B. Collective Bargaining Agreements/Memoranda of Understanding 

U. S. Department of Labor News Release: July 17, 2018  

The U.S. Department Of Labor (“DOL”) Formally Rescinds The 2016 Persuader Rule 

Holding:  The DOL rescinded the 2016 “Persuader” Rule on the grounds that it had exceeded the 
authority of the Labor-Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (“LMRDA”) by requiring 
disclosure of confidential attorney-client communications. 

Discussion:  The LMRDA has long required certain public reporting by labor “persuaders,” 
including labor lawyers and labor consultants.  In 2016, the DOL issued a Final Rule regarding 
the “Advice Exemption” to the LMRDA that would have required employers and their law firms 
to file new, additional reports regarding their joint, anti-union organization efforts.  Previously, 
these communications were not subject to disclosure under the “advice exemption” if the 
attorneys were not directly interacting with employees, and the employers were free to reject any 
draft materials prepared by the attorneys.  The additional reporting required under the 2016 Final 
Rule was designed to give workers additional information regarding its employer’s efforts so the 
employees could make a better informed decision regarding whether to form or join a union.  
Ultimately, the 2016 Final Rule never took effect because a nationwide injunction was granted in 
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the District Court for the Northern District of Texas.  In its announcement formally rescinding 
the 2016 Final Rule, the DOL claimed the 2016 Final Rule would have impinged on attorney-
client confidentiality and therefore exceeded the DOL’s authority under the LMRDA. 

What this means:  To the extent any labor attorneys were concerned their communications with 
clients regarding union organizing efforts might have to be disclosed as a result of the 2016 
Persuader Rule, they can now rest assured they will not be.   

Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America v. City of Seattle, 890 F.3d 769 (9th 
Cir. 2018) 

City Governments Cannot Interfere With The Free Market, But A State Likely Can 

Holding:  A local ordinance authorizing collective bargaining for ride-for-hire drivers was 
preempted by the Sherman Antitrust Act. 

Discussion:  Seattle created a city ordinance allowing app-based drivers to form quasi-unions.  
The ordinance set forth procedures for selecting the “exclusive driver representative” for the 
drivers and for reaching agreements on the “nature and amount of payments to be made by, or 
withheld from, the driver coordinator to or by the drivers.”  The Chamber of Commerce brought 
an action against the city, alleging it violated the Sherman Antitrust Act by sanctioning price-
fixing or ride-referral service fees by private cartels of independent-contractor drivers.  The State 
Action Immunity Doctrine allows states to regulate their economies in ways otherwise barred by 
antitrust law.  The Chamber also alleged the ordinance is preempted by the National Labor 
Relations Act (“NLRA”), which sets standards for worker organization and collective 
bargaining, because the NLRA excludes independent contractors and supervisors, and the 
ordinance usurps the National Labor Relations Board’s power to decide whether workers are 
employees.  The district court dismissed the case, finding the ordinance is exempt from 
preemption by the Sherman Antitrust Act under the State Action Immunity Doctrine.  In its 
reversal, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals stated the ordinance does not itself qualify for 
immunity under the Doctrine, but a statute may be in compliance if it was both “clearly 
articulated and affirmatively expressed as state policy” and “actively supervised by the State.”  
Neither of these conditions was present here.  The state statutes relied on by the city authorize 
local regulation of the provision of “privately operated for hire transportation services.”  The 
plain language of the statutes focus on the provision of services, not on the contractual payment 
arrangements between for-hire drivers and their driver coordinators.  Nothing in the statutes 
evinces a clearly articulated state policy to displace competition in the market for ride-referral 
service fees charged by companies such as Uber, Lyft, and Eastside.  The statutes thus do not 
“plainly show” that the Washington legislature “contemplated” allowing for-hire drivers to price-
fix their compensation; nor was such an anticompetitive result foreseeable.  The active-
supervision requirement was similarly unsatisfied.   

What this means:  While this ordinance is not enforceable, a similar state law might be if: (1) it 
clearly expresses state policy, and (2) it is supervised by the state. 
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CNH Industrial N.V. v. Reese, 138 S.Ct. 761 (2018) 

U.S. Supreme Court Reaffirms That Collective Bargaining Agreements (“CBA”) Should Be 
Interpreted According To Ordinary Principles Of Contract Law 

Holding:  Under ordinary principles of contract law a CBA did not create a vested right to 
lifetime health care benefits by its silence on duration of benefits. 

Discussion:  Employer entered into a CBA providing retiree health care benefits with a general 
durational clause that the CBA would terminate in six years.  The CBA did not state whether 
health care benefits vested for life.  After the CBA terminated, retirees sought a declaration that 
health care benefits vested for life.  In International Union, United Auto, Aerospace, & 
Agricultural Implement Workers of Am. v. Yard-Man, Inc., 716 F.2d 1476 (6th Cir. 1983), the 
Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals established a rule that when no specific provision in a CBA 
addresses the duration of retiree benefits, a presumption arises that the benefits vest for life.  The 
U.S. Supreme Court rejected the Yard Man reasoning in M&G Polymers USA, LLC v. Tackett, 
135 S.Ct. 926 (2015).  However, the district court granted summary judgment to the retirees and 
the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals used Yard Man 
inferences here to render the CBA ambiguous as a matter of law as to whether health care 
benefits vest for life, permitting the court to consult extrinsic evidence about lifetime vesting. 

The U.S. Supreme Court again rejected the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeal’s approach, finding 
that a contract is not ambiguous unless it is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation, 
and the Yard-Man inferences cannot generate a reasonable interpretation because they are not 
“ordinary principles of contract law.”  Since the decision was “Yard-Man re-born, re-built, and 
re-purposed for new adventures,” the U.S. Supreme Court reversed. 

What this means:  Only the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeal has implemented the Yard-Man 
reasoning, and this decision does not impact employers outside that Circuit. 

C. Section 301, LMRA Preemption 

McCray v. Marriott Hotel Services, Inc., 902 F.3d 1005 (9th Cir. 2018) 

Ninth Circuit Court Of Appeals Says No Labor Management Relations Act (“LMRA”) 
Preemption: Wage Suit Belongs In State Court 

Holding:  A suit against employer for violating a local minimum wage ordinance through a 
collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) was not preempted by the LMRA because the 
employee’s claim amounted to an interpretive challenge of a local ordinance and not a 
substantial analysis of the CBA. 

Discussion:  Employee filed a class action suit in state court against his employer, seeking 
additional wages based on employer’s failure to pay him at least minimum wage, as required by 
a local minimum wage ordinance.  The ordinance contains an opt-out mechanism that purports to 
allow employers and employees to waive the minimum wage requirement through collective 
bargaining “to the extent required by federal law.”  The terms of the employee’s employment 
were governed by a CBA, which contained such an opt-out agreement.  The case was removed to 
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federal court after the employer successfully argued that section 301 of the LMRA preempted the 
state court from hearing the claims.  The district court denied employee’s motion to remand and 
subsequently granted summary judgment in favor of employer.  Employee appealed.  The Ninth 
Circuit Court of Appeals held the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case 
because the asserted wage claims involved an interpretive challenge of the local ordinance and 
did not depend on a substantial analysis of the CBA.  The court reasoned that the primary task of 
the court in deciding this case will be to determine whether the minimum wage ordinance is 
waivable and if the court determines it cannot be waived, the contents of the CBA would become 
irrelevant.  If the court determines the waiver is permissible, the court will need only “look to” 
and not “interpret,” the CBA to determine whether it contains a valid waiver. 

What this means:  As the court noted, not every dispute tangentially involving a provision of a 
CBA is preempted by the LMRA.  If an employee makes a claim that arises out of state law and 
independently from the CBA, it will not be preempted by the LMRA.  Additionally, the 
foreseeability of a dispute arising in the future that will require interpretation of the CBA will not 
create a basis for preemption. 

Melendez v. San Francisco Baseball Associates LLC, 16 Cal.App.5th 339 (2017)  

Even Where A Claim Does Not Come Within The Scope Of A Collective Bargaining 
Agreement’s (“CBA”) Arbitration Provision, The Meaning Of The CBA May Still Be 
Relevant, Thus Preempting The Claim Under The Labor Management Relations Act 
(“LMRA”) 

Holding:  Employee’s claim for violations of California Labor Code section 201 was preempted 
by section 301of the LMRA and the employee’s claims were required to be resolved pursuant to 
the grievance and arbitration procedures under the employee’s CBA. 

Discussion:  Employee, a security guard employed by the San Francisco Giants at AT&T Park, 
contended that he and other security guards were employed “intermittingly” for specific job 
assignments (baseball games or other events) and were discharged at the end of each event, and 
were, therefore, entitled under Labor Code section 201 to immediate payment of their final 
wages upon each discharge.  The employer moved to compel arbitration or to dismiss the action 
under the arbitration provision of the CBA and on the grounds that the action was preempted by 
section 301 of the LMRA.  As to the employer’s motion to compel arbitration, the CBA required 
the arbitration of any grievance, and defined a grievance as “any dispute between the employer 
and an employee or the union, regarding the interpretation, application or alleged violation of 
any terms of this agreement.”  The court held that the employees’ complaint did not allege a 
violation of the terms of the CBA as it was solely based on the alleged violation of Labor Code 
section 201 and did not come within the scope of the contractual arbitration provision.  As to the 
employer’s preemption argument, the court held that section 301of the LMRA required that the 
dispute be arbitrated.  The court stated that “[w]hile resolution of the controversy may not turn 
on the interpretation of any specific language in the CBA, it does not follow that the meaning of 
the CBA is irrelevant to the outcome of the dispute.”  The court stated that in order to determine 
whether the conclusion of an event constituted a discharge, it was first necessary to determine the 
terms of employment that were governed by the CBA.  It was essential to determine whether the 
CBA provided for employment of security guards for only a single event or whether the 
agreement contemplated extended employment.  Although there was no provision of the CBA 
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that provided an explicit answer, the duration of the employment relationship was to be derived 
from what was implicit in the agreement. 

What this means:  The California Supreme Court granted review in January 2018 as to “whether 
plaintiffs’ statutory wage claim under Labor Code section 201 requires the interpretation of a 
collective bargaining agreement and is therefore preempted by section 301 of the Labor 
Management Relations Act.”  Pending that decision, employers should make sure any arbitration 
agreements are broadly drafted to ensure claims will be arbitrated.  Second, courts may interpret 
Section 301 of the LMRA broadly, and claims brought by employees subject to a CBA can likely 
be preempted. 

D. Union Organization 

PCC Structurals, Inc., 365 NLRB No. 160 (Dec. 15, 2017) 

Former Specialty Healthcare “Overwhelming Community Of Interest” Reduced To 
“Community Of Interest” Test To Evaluate Appropriateness Of Bargained-For Unit 

Holding:  The “community of interest” test, and not Specialty Healthcare’s “overwhelming 
community of interest” test, is the proper standard to evaluate the appropriateness of a bargained-
for unit. 

Discussion:  Employer is a manufacturing facility with over 2,000 production workers.  A local 
union sought to unionize a micro-unit of approximately 100 welding employees.  In determining 
the appropriateness of the petitioned-for unit, the National Labor Relations Board’s (“NLRB”) 
Regional Director applied the “overwhelming” community of interest test adopted in Specialty 
Healthcare & Rehabilitation Center of Mobile, 357 NLRB No. 934 (2011), a landmark decision 
that overturned over 20 years of prior precedent.   

In Specialty Healthcare, the NLRB rejected the “community of interest” test and instead adopted 
a multi-step analysis requiring the NLRB to first determine whether the petitioned-for employees 
were readily identifiable as a group and shared a sufficient community of interest with other 
petitioned-for employees.  If so, the burden then shifted to the employer to prove that an 
“overwhelming” community of interest (i.e., “no legitimate basis upon which to exclude certain 
employees from the other proposed unit”) existed between the petitioned-for employees and the 
remaining employees – a nearly impossible standard for employers to meet.   

Applying Specialty Healthcare, even though the micro-unit of welders at employer worked 
closely with other production workers, shared similar schedules and supervisors, received the 
same benefits and training, and wore the same protective equipment, the Regional Director 
decided that employer did not meet its burden in establishing an “overwhelming” community of 
interest between the micro-unit of welders and the company’s remaining production workers.  
Employer then petitioned the NLRB for review, arguing that Specialty Healthcare was wrongly 
decided and must be overruled. 

The NLRB agreed with employer and reinstated the “community of interest” test.  The NLRB 
also clarified that, in determining the appropriateness of a bargained-for unit, the following 
factors must be considered:  (1) whether the employees are organized into a separate department; 
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(2) have distinct skills and training; (3) have distinct job functions and perform distinct work; (4) 
are functionally integrated with the employer’s other employees; (5) have frequent contact with 
other employees; (6) interchange with other employees; (7) have distinct terms and conditions of 
employment; and (8) are separately supervised.   

What this means:  Specialty Healthcare was widely criticized by employers as making it easier 
for unions to petition for representation among “micro-units,” thereby permitting unions to 
essentially gerrymander the prospective voting pool to include only employees in certain limited 
shifts, departments, or classifications the union believed would have sufficient support to carry a 
majority.  By returning to the “community of interest” standard, employers should expect that it 
will now be more difficult for unions to win elections. 

E. Other 

Superior Court of Fresno Cty. v. Publ. Employment Relations Bd., 30 Cal.App.5th 158 (2018) 

State Court Employees Properly Barred from Wearing Union Regalia 

Holding: The Fifth Appellate District held the superior court’s interest in ensuring the 
appearance of impartiality justified a personnel rule barring courthouse employees from wearing 
union regalia anywhere in the courthouse. 

Discussion: In 2009, the Superior Court of Fresno County adopted new personnel rules for 
courthouse employees.  The rules at issue prohibit court employees from (1) wearing clothing or 
adornments with writings or images; (2) soliciting during working hours for any purpose without 
prior court approval; (3) distributing literature during nonworking time in working areas; and (4) 
displaying writings or images not published by the court in work areas visible to the public.  
Among the 550 employees subject to the personnel rules are office assistants, judicial assistants, 
account clerks, court reporters, and marriage and family counselors working in courtrooms, 
customer service windows, offices near judges’ chambers, and separate offices. 

In March 2010, the union representing the courthouse employees filed an unfair practice charge 
alleging the personnel rules violated the Trial Court Act.  The Public Employment Relations 
Board (PERB) issued a decision in February 2017, concluding the rules prohibiting employees 
from wearing certain clothing anywhere in the courthouse and from displaying images that are 
not published by the Court in work areas visible to the public as overly broad and interfered with 
rights protected by the Trial Court Art.  PERB also ruled the restriction on solicitation during 
work hours and the ban on distributing literature in working areas were ambiguous and overly 
broad. PERB upheld its own authority and ordered the court to rescind the personnel rules.  The 
Superior Court of Fresno County filed a petition for writ of review. 

On appeal, the Fifth Appellate District affirmed PERB’s decision invalidating the rule 
prohibiting the distribution of literature on the grounds that “working areas” is ambiguous, but 
otherwise set aside PERB’s remaining conclusions.  As a matter of first impression, the appellate 
court found that a trial court has a substantial interest in regulating its workforce to ensure the 
judicial process appears impartial to all appearing before it, and that this interest constitutes 
“special circumstances” sufficient to justify a restriction on wearing union regalia.  In reviewing 
PERB’s decision, the appellate court relied on the UCLA PERB decision, No. 329-H [7 PERC ¶ 
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14212] for the proposition that employee and employer rights must be balanced based on the 
context of the particular industry at issue.  The appellate court stated the relevant dispute to 
resolve should have centered on where public displays of support for causes would affect the 
appearance of impartial justice.  Instead, PERB looked for past incidents concerning the display 
of union views to evaluate whether the court’s underlying interest was legitimate. 

What this means: Under federal and state law, employees have the right to wear union 
regalia in the workplace, subject to an exception where special circumstances justify a 
prohibition.  Generally, the employer has the burden of establishing that its policy or rule 
is justified by special circumstances.  When crafting personnel rules, employers should 
recognize the existence of special circumstances depends on how employees interact with 
the public, the purpose of the space where that interaction occurs, and other factors unique 
to the particular industry at issue. 

Beneli v. National Labor Relations Board, 873 F.3d 1094 (9th Cir. 2017) 

The National Labor Relation Board (“NLRB”) Issues New, Less Deferential Standard In 
Determining When To Defer To Arbitral Decisions And Properly Gave Prospective 
Application To Its New Standard 

Holding:  The NLRB properly applied its new standard on deferring to arbitral decisions 
prospectively and did not abuse its discretion in deferring to an arbitral decision. 

Discussion:  Employee worked for employer as a forklift and crane operator and served as a job 
steward for her union.  Employee was fired about two months after she was hired.  Employee 
alleged she was fired because of a running dispute over her actions as a union job steward.  The 
employer alleged she was fired for cause because of repeated safety violations and inappropriate 
conduct.  Employee’s union filed a grievance over the employee’s suspension and termination, 
alleging that she had been fired for union activities and without just cause.  The grievance moved 
through the Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”) process to binding arbitration before a 
joint labor-management Grievance Review Subcommittee.  The Subcommittee denied the 
grievance and upheld the employee’s discharge.  After reviewing the Subcommittee’s decision 
and determining it was “repugnant” to the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), the NLRB 
issued a complaint against the employer.  Following a hearing before an Administrative Law 
Judge (“ALJ”), the ALJ issued a proposed order recommending that the NLRB defer to the 
Subcommittee’s decision and dismiss the complaint.  The ALJ’s decision to defer was based on 
long-standing NLRB precedent to defer to arbitral decisions when:  (1) the parties agree to be 
bound by the decision; (2) the proceedings appear to be fair and regular; (3) the arbitrator 
adequately considers the unfair labor practice issue; and (4) the arbitration award is not clearly 
repugnant to the NLRA.  The NLRB filed exceptions to the ALJ’s decision and recommended 
the NLRB revisit the standard for determining when to defer to an arbitral decision.  
Subsequently, the NLRB adopted the ALJ’s decision and changed the standard for determining 
whether to defer to an arbitral decision.  Under the new standard, the NLRB will now defer to an 
arbitral decision if the party urging deferral shows that:  (1) the arbitrator was explicitly 
authorized to decide the unfair labor practice issue; (2) the arbitrator was presented with and 
considered the statutory issue, or was prevented from doing so by the party opposing deferral; 
and (3) Board law reasonably permits the award.  This standard shifts the burden of proof and 
makes deferral to an arbitral decision less likely.  The NLRB applied the new deferral standard 
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prospectively and declined to apply it in the present case because of its impact on settled 
expectations of employers and unions who had bargained for dispute resolution mechanisms 
under the old NLRB standard.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the NLRB properly 
gave only prospective application to its newly adopted, less deferential standard and acted within 
its discretion in determining that an arbitral award was not clearly repugnant to the NLRA. 

What this means:  The NLRB’s new standard represents an abrupt departure from well-
established practice, and now the NLRB will be less likely to defer to an arbitrator’s decision. 

XVI. MISCELLANEOUS 

Division of Labor Standards Enforcement Guidance Issued November 2017 

In November 2017, the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (“DLSE”) posted an FAQ 
regarding whether an employer can require employees to stay on the work premises during a rest 
period and reversed its previous position.  The DLSE’s answer was that an employer could not 
“impose any restraints not inherent in the rest period requirement itself,” including leaving the 
premises.  The DLSE further opined that, as a practical matter, the employee could only travel 
five minutes from a work post before heading back to return within the allotted ten minutes.  
Although this new guidance is not law, employers are recommended to take it seriously and 
update their policies and practices to ensure compliance.  

European Data Protection Regulation 

For any organizations processing personal data, the General Data Protection Regulation 
(“GDPR”) is important news from the European Union (“EU”) because it affects companies with 
global reach.  Arguably, the GDPR is the biggest legal change of the digital age as it covers any 
organization that provides goods or services to the EU or gathers information concerning EU 
citizens.  It covers a wide range of issues relating to personal data, such as privacy, monitoring 
and security.  Among other provisions, it compels businesses to provide data in a form suitable 
for use by a competing service provider, disclose personal data breaches within 72 hours, and 
encrypt the data they hold.  The General Data Protection Regulation took effect May 25, 2018. 

U.S. Department of Labor News Release: August 28, 2018  

The U. S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) Establishes “Office of Compliance Initiatives” and 
Releases New Websites for Workers and Employers. 

Discussion:  On August 28, 2018 the DOL announced that it created a new Office of Compliance 
Initiatives (“OCI”) to strengthen and innovate compliance assistance outreach.  As part of this 
initiative, the office has launched two new websites: Worker.gov and Employer.gov, providing 
resources to assess compliance with federal labor laws and regulations. 

The new OCI is a cross-agency effort with the goal of “advancing the expansion and 
development of initiative approaches to compliance assistance and enforcement.”  The OCI will 
provide employers and workers with access to high-quality, up-to-date information about their 
obligations and rights under federal labor laws and regulations.  Specifically, Worker.gov is 
designed to assist workers that have compliance questions by providing a centralized base of 
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information based on worker protections.  The companion site, Employer.gov, provides 
employers with information about their responsibilities in an easy-to-understand format. 
Employment topics include pay and benefits, workplace safety and health, small businesses, 
required posters, nondiscrimination laws, federal contract requirements, and veteran and service 
member employment.  The new websites are in addition to another resource recently rolled out 
by the DOL, elaws, which are a set of interactive, online tools for employers and employees to 
learn more about their rights and responsibilities under federal employment laws. 

What this means:  In addition to issuing six new opinion letters in August (referenced below), the 
DOL is demonstrating a commitment to provide clear, accurate, and accessible information on 
widely applicable employment laws.  These efforts are particularly aimed at an audience of 
workers and small business owners, providing easy-to-understand information concerning rights 
and responsibilities under federal labor laws and regulations. 

U.S. Department of Labor Opinion Letters: August 2018 

In August 2018 the U.S. Department of Labor issued six New Wage and Hour Opinion Letters. 

1. Organ Donor’s Qualification For Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) 

Discussion:  An organ-donation surgery can qualify as a “serious health condition” under FMLA 
when it involves either “inpatient care” under 29 C.F.R. section 825.114 or “continuing 
treatment” under Section 825.115. 

What this means:  An employee may qualify for FMLA leave when they donate an organ, even if 
the employee is in good health before the donation and chooses to donate the organ solely to 
improve someone else’s health.  Since organ-donation surgery typically requires an overnight 
stay in a hospital, an employee donating an organ will likely fall within the definition of a 
“serious health condition” and qualify for FMLA leave. 

2. Compensability Of Time Spent Voluntarily Attending Benefits Fairs And 
Certain Wellness Activities 

Discussion:  Employers are not required to provide compensation to employees for time spent 
freely and voluntarily participating in wellness activities, regardless of whether the activities 
occur on-site or during regular working hours.  Where the activity predominantly benefits the 
employee, and participation is wholly optional, it does not constitute compensable work time 
under the Fair Labor Standards Act.  

What this means:  Employers are welcome to continue promoting wellness activities and offering 
such services to its employees, and need not compensate employees during these activities, 
provided they are entirely optional and of no direct benefit to the employer. 

3. Application Of The Movie Theater Overtime Exemption To A Movie Theater 
That Also Offers Dining Services 

Discussion:  The Fair Labor Standards Act exempts from its overtime requirements any 
employee of a motion picture theater.  If the food services operations are functionally integrated 
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within a movie theater’s operations, they constitute a single establishment and the overtime 
exemption applies to all employees of both operations.  Functional integration may be shown 
where the establishments are incorporated as a single unit, where the same employees work for 
both parts of the business, or where patrons must purchase a movie ticket to dine in the facilities. 

What this means:  Employers at movie theaters that also provide dining services should evaluate 
their circumstances to determine whether they might qualify as a single establishment subject to 
the movie theater overtime exemption or if they are functionally separate. 

4. Application Of The Commissioned Sales Employee Overtime Exemption To 
A Company That Sells An Internet Payment Software Program 

Discussion:  The Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) exempts from its overtime pay 
requirements certain employees of retail or service establishments, provided three requirements 
are satisfied: (1) the employee works at a retail or service establishment; (2) the employee’s 
regular rate of pay exceeds one and one-half times the applicable minimum wage in the 
workweek in which he or she works overtime; and (3) more than half of the employee’s earnings 
in a representative period consist of commissions.  The U.S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) has 
opined that the “retail or service establishment” overtime exemption applies to sales 
representatives in a business that operates online and sells its platform to commercial entities. 

This opinion letter primarily focuses on the first element – whether a business qualifies as a 
“retail or service establishment”– and remarks that a business may qualify as a “retail or service 
establishment” even when their customers are commercial entities, or where the entire platform 
is performed online. 

What this means:  In its letter, the DOL emphasized that overtime exemptions under the FLSA 
deserve a “fair (rather than narrow) interpretation which is consistent with the U.S. Supreme 
Court’s recent approach in Encino Motorcars LLC v. Navarro, 138 S.Ct. 1134 (2018). 

5. Volunteer Status Of Non-profit Members Serving As Examination Graders 

Discussion:  Graders of global credentialing exams may be treated as volunteers of a non-profit 
organization rather than short-term employees under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”).  
Persons who volunteer their time freely for a non-profit organization as a public service are not 
ordinarily treated as employees under the FLSA if they volunteer without compensation.  Where 
graders are offering their services freely, without pressure or coercion, for service-oriented 
reasons with no contemplation of compensation, they may be properly classified as volunteers 
under the FLSA.  The non-profit may continue to pay for the volunteer’s travel, lodging, meals, 
and other expenses without negating their volunteer status. 

What this means:  The FLSA recognizes the generosity and public benefits of volunteering and 
encourages such conduct when offers to perform services are made freely without coercion or 
undue pressure.  Employers of non-profit organizations seeking to avoid classification of 
volunteers as employees should ensure each volunteer’s decision to participate is given freely 
and without contemplation of compensation. 
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6. “No-Fault” Attendance Policies And Roll-Off Attendance Points Under The 
FMLA 

Discussion:  No-fault attendance policies must be applied in a nondiscriminatory manner and 
treat Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) leaves of absence equally with other types of leave.  
Under the attendance policy discussed in the letter, an employee accrues points for tardiness and 
absences, except for certain absences (FMLA leave, workers’ compensation, vacation).  When an 
employee accrues a given number of points, they are automatically discharged.  Points remain on 
an employee’s record for twelve months of “active service”.  When an employee takes FMLA 
leave, the points are extended, meaning no points are added or subtracted and may remain on the 
record for longer than twelve months.  The DOL stated that this type of no-fault attendance 
policy does not violate the FMLA, as long as employees on equivalent types of leave receive the 
same treatment. 

What this means:  Employers using a no-fault attendance policy must ensure that all types of 
leave are given the same treatment in order to avoid violations under the FMLA.
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